
Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
www.covingtonwa.gov 

 
 
Tuesday, July 22, 2014                                                                            City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                               16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Quorum of Council at 5:30 p.m. for official photographs. 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
   
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - NONE 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  
Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 

• Human Services Chair Fran McGregor:  July 10 meeting. 
• Parks & Recreation Chair Steven Pand:  July 16 meeting. 
• Planning Chair Sean Smith:  July 17 meeting; July 5 meeting canceled. 
• Arts Chair Sandy Bisordi:  July 10 meeting 
• Future Meetings: Economic Development Council Next Meeting:  July 24; June 26 

meeting canceled. 
  

PUBLIC HEARING 
1. Receive Comments on Covington Mixed Use Development Agreement (Hart/Lyons) 
 
CONTINUED BUSINESS 
2. Approve Amendment to Solid Waste Contract (Vondran) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
3. Consider Resolution Approving Multifamily Property Tax Exemptions Agreements 

(Hart/Lyons) 
4. Consider Appointments to Covington Economic Development Council (Council) 
5. Discuss Master Builders Association Request for Support of Water District Policy Change 

(Matheson) 

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


6. Appoint Interim City Manager (Matheson) 
 

COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
  
ADJOURN 
 
For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD 
relay service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 



Consent Agenda Item C-1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  July 22, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S)

 

:  Vouchers #31257-313156, including ACH Payments in the Amount of 
$397,345.62, Dated July 7, 2014 and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002580559-1002580571 and 
Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002580853-1002580853 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits 
in the Amount of $173,024.41, Dated July 3, 2014. 

PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers #31257-313156, including ACH 
Payments in the Amount of $397,345.62, Dated July 7, 2014 and Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1002580559-1002580571 and Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1002580853-1002580853 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $173,024.41, Dated July 3, 2014. 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

1 of 83



2 of 83



3 of 83



4 of 83



5 of 83



6 of 83



7 of 83



8 of 83



9 of 83



10 of 83



11 of 83



12 of 83



13 of 83



14 of 83



Agenda Item 1  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: July 22, 2014  
 
SUBJECT:  PUBLIC HEARING FOR CONSIDERATION OF A DEVELPOMENT 

AGREEMENT WITH COVINGTON MIXED-USE COMMERCIAL SITE 
DEVELOPMENT, CITY FILE NO. LU14-0006/0010 PROPOSED IN THE 
DOWNTOWN TOWN CENTER (TC) ZONE 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  

1. Inland Group Site Plan and Elevations 
2. Draft Development Agreement (Affinity at Covington and Polaris at Covington) 

 
PREPARED BY:  Salina Lyons, Principal Planner 
 
EXPLANATION: 
In February 2014 staff presented an overview of a development project proposed in the TC zone 
and discussed the developer’s request to utilize the city’s development agreement process. 
Pursuant to CMC 18.31.045 – Town Center Development Agreements, which was adopted in 
2013, Covington code allows the city council to approve specific deviations from zoning 
requirements in the TC zone through the execution of a development agreement with the 
developer.  To qualify for a development agreement, the developer must provide a “public 
benefit” over and above what is required in the city’s code for a standard development. 
 
The Council’s February discussion with the Inland Group focused on the developer’s specific 
request to reduce the requirement that multifamily, in the TC zone, provide sixty percent (60%) 
ground floor frontage abutting streets as commercial/retail space.  At that meeting the council 
supported reduction of the ground floor space requirements through a development agreement 
process and directed staff to consider public space and construction of additional infrastructure 
as a public benefit.  Since that discussion, staff is also including the ability to locate school 
facilities in the ground floor commercial/retail space as part of the developer’s request.   
 
The purpose of this blue sheet is to provide an overview of the developer’s request to utilize the 
development agreement process, outline the public benefits proposed, and obtain city council 
approval to hold a public hearing on the proposed development agreement.  
 
Proposal Overview 
Alan Springer, Project Development Manager, on behalf of Gemstar Properties (aka Inland 
Group) submitted a Commercial Site Development Permit application for the development of 
7.03 acres located in the Downtown TC zone, on a site known as the Ashton Property. The 
property is surrounded by Covington Elementary to the south, the Safeway Shopping Center to 
the north, 3-4 acres of undeveloped property owned by Valley Medical to the west, and single 
family homes that front onto S.E. Wax Road to the east.   
 

15 of 83



The proposed mixed use development consists of four multiple-story structures identified as 
Buildings A, B, C and D.  Buildings A and B are six-story mixed-use buildings with 200 units of 
affordable family apartments, ground level commercial space and parking. These buildings are 
referred to as Polaris at Covington. Building C is a six-story building with 156 dwelling units 
and amenity space.  This facility, referred to as Affinity at Covington, will provide senior living 
and will be age-restricted to seniors age 55 or older. No meal services are provided at the 
Affinity facility, but typical retirement housing amenity spaces are provided.  Building D is a 
pool and recreation amenity area for Building C, the senior living facility.  
 
The overall mixed use project is reviewed pursuant to the underlying TC zoning review and 
approval procedure.  A Commercial Site Development Permit application is a Type 2 approval, 
which means the Community Development Director has responsibility to approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the application.  Staff is in the process of completing the commercial site 
development review and has determined that the proposal meets all requirements outlined in the 
Covington Municipal Code, Design and Construction Standards and the Downtown Design 
Guidelines, with the exception of the development agreement request and approval process for a 
development agreement by the city council.   
 
Development Agreement Request 
The developer is requesting to utilize the development agreement process for a reduction in the 
required 60% ground floor commercial space abutting streets that is applicable to Buildings A 
and B.  Senior housing facilities are exempt from the mixed-use requirement; therefore, no 
ground floor commercial space is proposed for Building C. 
 
In addition to the developer’s request for a reduction of ground floor commercial space, staff is 
initiating an additional request that the development agreement allow compulsory, vocational 
and higher education schools to be located on the ground floor of the facility. 
 
Development Agreement Overview 
The community development director cannot issue the final approval until all conditions 
associated with the development agreement are approved by the city council.  The remaining 
findings of facts are formalized in the draft development agreement and an overview is provided 
as follows: 
 
1. Ground Floor Commercial Space Requirements 

Required by CMC 18.31 
Multifamily structures in the TC zone shall provide 60% or more of the ground floor abutting 
a street as retail, restaurants, or personal services (commercial space). Pursuant to the 
calculation requirements in CMC 18.31, the developer is required to provide the following 
linear feet of commercial space:  
 
a. S.E. 276th St. is occupied by 384 linear feet of building frontage; therefore, 230 linear feet 

of commercial space shall be provided.  
b. 171st Ave. S.E. is occupied by 429 linear feet of building frontage; therefore, 257 linear 

feet of commercial space shall be provided.  

16 of 83



c. The senior care facility is a single use structure and is not required to provide ground 
floor retail.  

 
Proposed by Developer 
The developer is providing the following amount of commercial space.  
 
a. S.E. 276th St. will have 170 linear feet of commercial space, or 44% of the frontage. 
b. 171st Ave. S.E. will have 223 linear feet of commercial space, or 52% of the frontage.   
 
Given the code requirements, the proposal is deficient by approximately 94 linear feet of 
total commercial space abutting the street frontages.  The total space provided for each 
building is identified on the site plan and equates to about 12,793 sq. ft. of commercial space.   
 
The 8,806 sq. ft. of commercial space along S.E. 276th St. will be related to the business 
offices and amenity spaces associated with the Polaris at Covington development.  Although 
the bulk of the proposed ground level commercial space will be for private use by the 
residents of the development, from a design perspective, it will provide a pedestrian level 
presence along the street.  
 
The developer has designed 3,987 sq. ft. of future commercial space along 171st Ave S.E.  
The commercial space is clustered at the south end of the building.  The developer evaluated 
the ability to locate commercial space along the entire frontage of 171st Ave S.E., but due to 
the elevation changes to the north, it is not feasible to design commercial space without 
significant grading and construction of retaining walls on the site. The commercial space 
along 171st Ave S.E. will not be built out with the initial phases of the project but will instead 
be completed with appropriate tenant improvements when tenants are identified.  

 
2. Compulsory, vocational and higher education schools (Requested by Staff)  

Required by CMC 18.31 -  
All schools for compulsory, vocational and higher education schools are required to be 
located on the upper floors of a mixed-use building that includes ground-floor commercial 
uses, unless otherwise allowed through the development agreement process.  In addition, any 
request for school facilities within the TC are required to go through a conditional use 
permitting process, which requires a public hearing before the hearing examiner.  
 
Proposed by Developer/Supported by Staff 
The city manager’s office has been working with Panattoni, the city’s TC partner, and 
various higher education providers to locate higher learning classrooms in Covington’s 
downtown, particularly the TC. The developer has also been part of these meetings in order 
to provide a coordinated effort regarding short- and long-term development in the TC.  Given 
the city’s timeline for future development of the TC on the Covington Elementary School 
site, there may be an opportunity for Covington mixed-use to provide classroom space on an 
interim basis, if feasible.  The developer’s ideal business model is to fill the ground floor 
space with commercial uses long-term, but given the market demands and their intent to 
lease the space over time, if the space could be used on a short-term basis, they are in support 
of an educational partnership. 

17 of 83



 
Staff would like to include the option to permit outright use of the ground floor retail space 
for school uses, as defined in CMC 18.31.  Allowing the use through this development 
agreement process will offer streamlined permitting if the site were feasible to accommodate 
school programming in the near future.  
 
Public Benefit Overview 

1. Public Space 
In order to meet the public benefit requirements associated with the use of a development 
agreement, the developer is proposing to dedicate 4,341 sq. ft. of public plaza space to the 
city. The public plazas will be located at the corners of 171st Ave. S.E. and mid-block on 
S.E. 276th St.  The location and orientation of the public plaza space is intended to be one 
piece of the overall concept design for the T C.  The plaza located along S.E. 276th St. will 
create a larger mid-block space. This portion of the public plaza will serve as an extension of 
the future development and park plans for the Covington Elementary School site. The public 
plaza spaces located at the northwest and southwest corner of 171st Ave S.E. will contribute 
to the future intersection designs along our proposed TC “Main Street” when the property to 
the west develops and when S.E. 274th St. is constructed and extended in the future. The 
plaza at the southwest corner will offer a larger pedestrian space adjacent to the commercial 
businesses.  These plazas may be stand alone until such time as additional infrastructure is 
constructed; however, the long-term vision is to insure that these spaces are integrated into 
our TC and promote pedestrian activity.  
 

2. Street Infrastructure  
A series of infrastructure improvements are required to accommodate access to the site and to 
meet the street network identified in the Comprehensive Plan.  These street improvements 
include the half street extension of S.E. 276th St. (from the Valley Medical Urgent Care 
facility) along the frontage of this site, dedication of the right-of-way for S.E. 274th St. along 
the north boundary, and half-street improvements of 171st Ave S.E. (“Main Street”) along the 
west boundary. A driveway access will be provided from 172nd Ave. S.E. for the Affinity 
senior housing development.  As a result of using this access point, the developer is required 
to construct off-site improvements at S.E. 275th St. and S.E. Wax Road.  
 
The developer will be contributing approximately $559,716 to construct a portion of the 
city’s TC street network, as described above.  This investment amount is in addition to 
payment of approximately $235,474 in transportation impact fees.  

 
Conclusions 
Overall, the proposed project meets the requirements for utilizing our development agreement 
process. The dedication of public plazas and the construction of significant amounts of public 
infrastructure as identified in the City’s six-year Capital Program results in a proportionate 
public benefit for a 19% reduction in required ground floor commercial space and the potential 
ability to rent the commercial space as compulsory, vocational and/or higher education uses.  
 
With the amount of infrastructure that will be required, it can be assumed that the development 
will be of a significant magnitude to spur additional development within the TC. The level of 

18 of 83



infrastructure necessary for this site may also provide a catalyst for adjacent developments 
because a majority of the required utilities (sewer, water, power, lights, etc.) will also be required 
to be located within the new streets. The project will contribute to the city’s transportation 
network and our strong desire for affordable housing units, which are part of a mixed-use 
commercial and market-rate residential project. The availability of new housing in the TC also 
supports development of retail and other commercial spaces long term.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Direct staff to provide additional information before council consideration and adoption of the 
development agreement.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
City council action on this proposed development agreement is not expected to have a fiscal 
impact in and of itself. However, eventual development of the commercial space would involve 
the payment of permit fees, increased assessed valuation, and additional sales tax revenues as the 
ground floor commercial space is leased.  
 
The ongoing maintenance of the public benefit spaces will be the developer’s responsibility with 
any direct cost for maintenance passed onto the city for reimbursement.  Construction of the 
street extensions will be the responsibility of the developer with ongoing maintenance costs 
assumed by the city after the two-year maintenance agreement, required for public infrastructure 
improvements, is completed.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:      Ordinance    Resolution     Motion    X   Other 
 

No action required tonight.  Seek council direction for responses to the public 
testimony provided at the public hearing. Staff will provide an action item for 
council consideration at the next regular meeting. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager; Finance Director; Public Works Director, City Attorney. 

19 of 83



130'-0" 102'-51
2" 254'-71

2"

22
5'

-7
"

42
9'

-7
"

40'-101
2"

41
'-0

"

33
'-0

"

20'-6"

5'-0"

276 TH

17
1 

S
T

FUTURE 274 TH

NEW PROPERTY LINE

BUILDING
"B"

POLARIS

83 STALLS @ GRADE
112 STALLS @

BASEMENT
195 TOTAL STALLS

BUILDING
"C"

AFFINITYBUILDING
"D"

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

RAMP DOWN

POOL BUILDING
RECEREATION

7

7

9

7

6

7 7

11

7

7

9

9

8 7

56

7

7
10

9

9

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

9

FIRE
ACCESS

GATE

OFFICE
AMENITY

(2,713 S.F.)

17
2 

S
T

TELEPHONE
EASEMENT

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

R.O.W.
DEDICATION

NEW PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 274TH

(E) N88°31'26"W - 530.10

N88°31'26"W - 497.10

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
37

8.
73

N88°40'46"W - 30.00

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

21
2.

58

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
17

9.
58

(E) N89°55'44"W - 500.16

N89°55'44"W - 467.16

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

58
8.

21

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
51

7.
21

FENCE

5

7

8
2

3

3

83

TRASH
STAGING

AREA

119 UNITS
53 STALLS

BUILDING
"A"

POLARIS

OFFICE
AMENITY

(6,093 S.F.)

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

DOG
AREA

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

ET GEN

ET
G

EN

PLAY
AREA

9'-0"

26'-0"

10'-0"

33'-0"

N
E

W
 P

R
O

P
E

R
TY

 L
IN

E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

N
E

W
 C

.L
. 1

71
 S

T

13
'-0

"

FIRE CONTROL
ACCESS ROOM

FIRE CONTROL
ACCESS ROOM

FIRE CONTROL
ACCESS ROOM

4380 SF4380 SF

3849 SF3849 SF

18'-0" 26'-0" 18'-0"
4'-0"

18'-0" 26'-0" 18'-0"

1'
-6

"

5'
-6

"
1'

-6
"

18
'-0

"
26

'-0
"

18
'-0

" 4'
-0

"18
'-0

"
26

'-0
"

18
'-0

"

18'-0"26'-0"18'-0"

TY
P

. @
 IS

LA
N

D

46
'-1

0"

8'-0"22'-0"8'-0"

1961 SF1961 SF1557 SF1557 SF

675 SF675 SF

1505 SF1505 SF
895 SF895 SF

1266 SF1266 SF

SENIOR
OPEN

SPACE
13807 SF13807 SF

PLAY
AREA

929 SF929 SF

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

PUBLIC
PLAZA
SPACE

SIDEWALK

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

PUBLIC
BENEFIT
SPACE

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"=50'

PROJ. #
DRAWN:
CHECKED:
DATE:

REVISIONS
# DESCRIPTION DATE

04.15.14
CRO

13.76

P
R

O
JE

C
T:

C
O

V
IN

G
TO

N
 M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y
17

2N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 S
E

. &
 F

U
TU

R
E

 2
74

TH
 S

T.
C

O
V

IN
G

TO
N

, W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

A1.1
COMMERCIAL SITE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

CRO

171 ST
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 50% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 517.21 L.F. X 80% = 414 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 414 L.F. X 50% = 207 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 429 L.F. (83% SEE DRAWING)

(41 L.F. PLAZA - 8% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 222.5 L.F. (52% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 63%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

276 TH
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 30% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 497 L.F. X 80% = 397.6 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 397.6 L.F. X 30% = 119.28 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 130 L.F. + 254.6 L.F. = 384.6 L.F. (77% SEE DRAWING)

(102.4 L.F. PLAZA - 21% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 130 L.F. + 41 L.F. = 171 L.F. (43% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 68%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

ZONING TC (TOWN CENTER)

AREA 252,662 S.F. (5.80 ACRES) AFTER R.O.W.

DENSITY
ALLOWED 32 D.U. / ACRE MINIMUM

UNLIMITED MAXIMUM

BUILDING HT 75'-0"

SETBACKS NONE

FAR

ALLOWED 1.5 - UP TO 4 WITH BONUS
(254,647 S.F. * 1.5 = 381,971 S.F. ALLOWED)

BONUS 1.0 - STRUCTURED PARKING BELOW GRADE
.75 - STRUCTURED PARKING AT GRADE

1.5 + (BONUS 1.75) = 2.25 FAR
(254,647 S.F. * 2.25 = 859,435 S.F. ALLOWED)

PROPOSED504,766 S.F.

PARKING
REQUIRED 1.0 PER D.W. - STUDIO / 1 BEDROOM

1.5 PER D.W. - TWO BEDROOM
2.0 PER D.W. - THREE BEDROOM
+1 STALL PER 10 D.U.

BUILDING "A"
25 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 25 STALLS
64 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 96 STALLS
30 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 60 STALLS
119 @ 1 PER 10 = 12 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "A" 193 STALLS

BUILDING "B"
20 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 20 STALLS
36 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 54 STALLS
25 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 50 STALLS
81 @ 1 PER 10 = 9 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "B" 133 STALLS

BUILDING "C"
10 - STUDIO * 1.0 = 10 STALLS
54 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 54 STALLS
92 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 138 STALLS
156 @ 1 PER 10 = 16 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "C" 218 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED 544 STALLS

PROVIDED

SURFACE 209 STALLS
GARAGE 307 STALLS

TOTAL PROVIDED 516 STALLS

OPEN PUBLIC SPACE
REQUIRED 1.5% OF GROSS BUILDING AREA

POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS
(288,161 S.F. * 1.5% = 4,322 S.F.)

AFFINITY - SENIOR APARTMENTS
(211,892 S.F. * 1.5% = 3,178 S.F.)

PROVIDED
POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS

4,447 S.F. (LABELED FAMILY OPEN SPACE ON PLAN)
AFFINITY - SENIOR APARTMENTS

13,807 S.F. (LABELED SENIOR OPEN SPACE ON PLAN)

PLAY SPACE:
REQUIRED  45 S.F. PER UNIT POLARIS ONLY

POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS
(200 UNITS * 45 S.F. = 9,000 S.F.)

PROVIDED
POLARIS - FAMILY APARTMENTS

8,229 S.F. OUTDOOR (LABELED PLAY AREA ON PLAN)
4,162 S.F. INTERIOR AREAS. INTERNET CAFE, FITNESS 
CENTER, MOVIE THEATRE, GAME ROOM, MULTI-PURPOSE
ROOM.

PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE:
4,341 S.F. OF PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE HAS BEEN PROVED (LABELED
PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE ON PLAN). THIS AREA IS " IN ADDITION TO"

REQUIRED OPEN SPACE AND PLAY SPACE.

BUILDING "A"
PARKING 20,756 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 10,080 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 140,799 S.F.
(29,382 S.F. x 4 LEVELS + 23,271 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL A:  171,635 S.F.*

BUILDING "B"
PARKING 17,865 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 2,713 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 95,948 S.F.
(20,020 S.F. x4 LEVELS + 15,868 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL B: 116,526 S.F.*

BUILDING "C"
P-O PARKING 39,634 S.F.
(BELOW GRADE)
P-1 PARKING 32,740 S.F.
P-1 AMENITY 6,847 S.F
R-1 UNITS 29,772 S.F.
R-1 AMENITY 5,369 S.F.
R-2 TO R-5 137,164 S.F.
(34,291 S.F. x4 LEVELS)

TOTAL C: 211,892 S.F.* (ABOVE GRADE)
251,526 S.F. (TOTAL BUILDING)

BUILDING "D"
BUILDING 4,713 S.F.*

TOTAL AREA * 504,766 S.F. (ABOVE GRADE)
544,400 S.F (TOTAL W/ B.G. PARKING)

FRONTAGE TABULATIONBUILDING TABULATIONZONING INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

SITE
LOCATION

SE 
W

AX 
RO

AD

SE 275 TH

17
2 

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

E

16
8 

TH
 P

L 
SE

PRIVATE FIRE LINE
HYDRANT LOCATIONS
FIRE SPRINKLERS
FIRE ALARM
EMERGENCY / STANDBY GENERATOR

WORK UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

CSD REVISIONS 06.16.2014

                                                                                                                                               ATTACHMENT 1

AT 20 of 83



130'-0" 102'-51
2" 254'-71

2"

22
5'

-7
"

42
9'

-7
"

40'-101
2"

41
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

2'
-0

"
22

'-0
"

46'-0"

2'-0" 22'-0" 8'-0"

33
'-0

"

20'-6"

5'-0"

5'
-0

"9'
-0

"

276 TH

17
1 

S
T

FUTURE 274 TH

NEW PROPERTY LINE

BUILDING
"B"

84 STALLS @ GRADE
111 STALLS @

BASEMENT
195 TOTAL STALLS

BUILDING
"C"BUILDING

"D"

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

(5,704 S.F.)

RAMP DOWN

POOL BUILDING
RECEREATION

7

7

9

7

6

7 7

11

7

7

9

9

8 7

56

7

7
10

9

9

PLAZA
(1,235 S.F.)

PLAZA
(521 S.F.)

PLAZA
(1,261 S.F.)

9

FIRE
ACCESS

GATE

OFFICE
AMENITY

(2,713 S.F.)

17
2 

S
T

TELEPHONE
EASEMENT

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 276TH

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

R.O.W.
DEDICATION

R
.O

.W
.

D
E

D
IC

A
TI

O
N

NEW PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 274TH

(E) N88°31'26"W - 530.10

N88°31'26"W - 497.10

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
37

8.
73

N88°40'46"W - 30.00

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

21
2.

58

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
17

9.
58

(E) N89°55'44"W - 500.16

N89°55'44"W - 467.16

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

58
8.

21

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
51

7.
21

FENCE

PLAZA
(1,156 S.F.)

5

7

8
2

3

5

7
3

TRASH
STAGING

AREA

119 UNITS
53 STALLS

BUILDING
"A"

OFFICE
AMENITY

(6,093 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,601 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,188 S.F.)

DOG
AREA

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

ET GEN

ET
G

EN

PLAY
AREA

9'-0"

26'-0"

10'-0"

33'-0"

N
E

W
 P

R
O

P
E

R
TY

 L
IN

E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

N
E

W
 C

.L
. 1

71
 S

T

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"=50'

PROJ. #
DRAWN:
CHECKED:
DATE:

REVISIONS
# DESCRIPTION DATE

04.15.14
CRO

13.76

P
R

O
JE

C
T:

C
O

V
IN

G
TO

N
 M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y
17

2N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 S
E

. &
 F

U
TU

R
E

 2
74

TH
 S

T.
C

O
V

IN
G

TO
N

, W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

A1.1
COMMERCIAL SITE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

CRO

171 ST
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 50% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 517.21 L.F. X 80% = 414 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 414 L.F. X 50% = 207 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 429 L.F. (83% SEE DRAWING)

(41 L.F. PLAZA - 8% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 222.5 L.F. (52% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 63%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

276 TH
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 30% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 497 L.F. X 80% = 397.6 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 397.6 L.F. X 30% = 119.28 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 130 L.F. + 254.6 L.F. = 384.6 L.F. (77% SEE DRAWING)

(102.4 L.F. PLAZA - 21% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 130 L.F. + 41 L.F. = 171 L.F. (43% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 68%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

ZONING TC (TOWN CENTER)

AREA 252,662 S.F. (5.80 ACRES) AFTER R.O.W.

DENSITY
ALLOWED 32 D.U. / ACRE MINIMUM

UNLIMITED MAXIMUM

BUILDING HT 75'-0"

SETBACKS NONE

FAR

ALLOWED 1.5 - UP TO 4 WITH BONUS
(254,647 S.F. * 1.5 = 381,971 S.F. ALLOWED)

BONUS 1.0 - STRUCTURED PARKING BELOW GRADE
.75 - STRUCTURED PARKING AT GRADE

1.5 + (BONUS 1.75) = 2.25 FAR
(254,647 S.F. * 2.25 = 859,435 S.F. ALLOWED)

PROPOSED504,766 S.F.

PARKING
REQUIRED 1.0 PER D.W. - STUDIO / 1 BEDROOM

1.5 PER D.W. - TWO BEDROOM
2.0 PER D.W. - THREE BEDROOM
+1 STALL PER 10 D.U.

BUILDING "A"
25 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 25 STALLS
64 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 96 STALLS
30 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 60 STALLS
119 @ 1 PER 10 = 12 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "A" 193 STALLS

BUILDING "B"
20 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 20 STALLS
36 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 54 STALLS
25 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 50 STALLS
81 @ 1 PER 10 = 9 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "B" 133 STALLS

BUILDING "C"
10 - STUDIO * 1.0 = 10 STALLS
54 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 54 STALLS
92 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 138 STALLS
156 @ 1 PER 10 = 16 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "C" 218 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED 544 STALLS

PROVIDED

SURFACE 210 STALLS
GARAGE 307 STALLS

TOTAL PROVIDED 517 STALLS

OPEN PUBLIC SPACE
REQUIRED 1.5% OF GROSS BUILDING AREA

(504,766 S.F * 1.5% = 7,571 S.F)

PROVIDED 8,493 S.F. REQUIRED SPACE (LABEL OPEN ON PLAN)
4,173 S.F. PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE (LABEL PLAZA ON PLAN)

BUILDING "A"
PARKING 20,756 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 10,080 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 140,799 S.F.
(29,382 S.F. x 4 LEVELS + 23,271 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL A:  171,635 S.F.*

BUILDING "B"
PARKING 17,865 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 2,713 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 95,948 S.F.
(20,020 S.F. x4 LEVELS + 15,868 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL B: 116,526 S.F.*

BUILDING "C"
P-O PARKING 39,634 S.F.
(BELOW GRADE)
P-1 PARKING 32,740 S.F.
P-1 AMENITY 6,847 S.F
R-1 UNITS 29,772 S.F.
R-1 AMENITY 5,369 S.F.
R-2 TO R-5 137,164 S.F.
(34,291 S.F. x4 LEVELS)

TOTAL C: 211,892 S.F.* (ABOVE GRADE)
251,526 S.F. (TOTAL BUILDING)

BUILDING "D"
BUILDING 4,713 S.F.*

TOTAL AREA * 504,766 S.F. (ABOVE GRADE)
544,400 S.F (TOTAL W/ B.G. PARKING)

FRONTAGE TABULATIONBUILDING TABULATIONZONING INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

SITE
LOCATION

SE 
W

AX 
RO

AD

SE 275 TH

17
2 

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

E

16
8 

TH
 P

L 
SE

CSD REVISIONS                 06.16.2014

PERSPECTIVES

A5.04

SW AERIAL - CORNER OF 276TH & 171ST 

SE PERSPECTIVE

SW PERSPECTIVE - CORNER OF 276TH & 171ST

SOUTH AERIAL - PLAZA ON 276TH

21 of 83



130'-0" 102'-51
2" 254'-71

2"

22
5'

-7
"

42
9'

-7
"

40'-101
2"

41
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

38
'-0

"

2'
-0

"
22

'-0
"

46'-0"

2'-0" 22'-0" 8'-0"

33
'-0

"

20'-6"

5'-0"

5'
-0

"9'
-0

"

276 TH

17
1 

S
T

FUTURE 274 TH

NEW PROPERTY LINE

BUILDING
"B"

84 STALLS @ GRADE
111 STALLS @

BASEMENT
195 TOTAL STALLS

BUILDING
"C"BUILDING

"D"

FAMILY
OPEN SPACE

(5,704 S.F.)

RAMP DOWN

POOL BUILDING
RECEREATION

7

7

9

7

6

7 7

11

7

7

9

9

8 7

56

7

7
10

9

9

PLAZA
(1,235 S.F.)

PLAZA
(521 S.F.)

PLAZA
(1,261 S.F.)

9

FIRE
ACCESS

GATE

OFFICE
AMENITY

(2,713 S.F.)

17
2 

S
T

TELEPHONE
EASEMENT

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 276TH

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

HALF STREET
IMPROVEMENTS

R.O.W.
DEDICATION

R
.O

.W
.

D
E

D
IC

A
TI

O
N

NEW PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
NEW C.L. 274TH

(E) N88°31'26"W - 530.10

N88°31'26"W - 497.10

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
37

8.
73

N88°40'46"W - 30.00

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

21
2.

58

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
17

9.
58

(E) N89°55'44"W - 500.16

N89°55'44"W - 467.16

(E
) N

1°
19

'1
4"

E
 - 

58
8.

21

N
1°

19
'1

4"
E

 - 
51

7.
21

FENCE

PLAZA
(1,156 S.F.)

5

7

8
2

3

5

7
3

TRASH
STAGING

AREA

119 UNITS
53 STALLS

BUILDING
"A"

OFFICE
AMENITY

(6,093 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,601 S.F.)

OPEN SPACE
(1,188 S.F.)

DOG
AREA

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

ET GEN

ET
G

EN

PLAY
AREA

9'-0"

26'-0"

10'-0"

33'-0"

N
E

W
 P

R
O

P
E

R
TY

 L
IN

E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

N
E

W
 C

.L
. 1

71
 S

T

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1"=50'

PROJ. #
DRAWN:
CHECKED:
DATE:

REVISIONS
# DESCRIPTION DATE

04.15.14
CRO

13.76

P
R

O
JE

C
T:

C
O

V
IN

G
TO

N
 M

U
LT

I-F
A

M
IL

Y
17

2N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 S
E

. &
 F

U
TU

R
E

 2
74

TH
 S

T.
C

O
V

IN
G

TO
N

, W
A

S
H

IN
G

TO
N

A1.1
COMMERCIAL SITE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

CRO

171 ST
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 50% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 517.21 L.F. X 80% = 414 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 414 L.F. X 50% = 207 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 429 L.F. (83% SEE DRAWING)

(41 L.F. PLAZA - 8% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 222.5 L.F. (52% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 63%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

276 TH
80% REQUIREMENT WITH 30% COMMERCIAL @ BUILDING

REQUIRED
FRONTAGE - 497 L.F. X 80% = 397.6 L.F.
COMMERCIAL - 397.6 L.F. X 30% = 119.28 L.F.

PROVIDED
FRONTAGE - 130 L.F. + 254.6 L.F. = 384.6 L.F. (77% SEE DRAWING)

(102.4 L.F. PLAZA - 21% SEE DRAWING)
COMMERCIAL - 130 L.F. + 41 L.F. = 171 L.F. (43% SEE DRAWING)

* COMBINED COMMERCIAL / PLAZA SPACE - 68%
(BASED ON REQUIRED COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE)

ZONING TC (TOWN CENTER)

AREA 252,662 S.F. (5.80 ACRES) AFTER R.O.W.

DENSITY
ALLOWED 32 D.U. / ACRE MINIMUM

UNLIMITED MAXIMUM

BUILDING HT 75'-0"

SETBACKS NONE

FAR

ALLOWED 1.5 - UP TO 4 WITH BONUS
(254,647 S.F. * 1.5 = 381,971 S.F. ALLOWED)

BONUS 1.0 - STRUCTURED PARKING BELOW GRADE
.75 - STRUCTURED PARKING AT GRADE

1.5 + (BONUS 1.75) = 2.25 FAR
(254,647 S.F. * 2.25 = 859,435 S.F. ALLOWED)

PROPOSED504,766 S.F.

PARKING
REQUIRED 1.0 PER D.W. - STUDIO / 1 BEDROOM

1.5 PER D.W. - TWO BEDROOM
2.0 PER D.W. - THREE BEDROOM
+1 STALL PER 10 D.U.

BUILDING "A"
25 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 25 STALLS
64 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 96 STALLS
30 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 60 STALLS
119 @ 1 PER 10 = 12 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "A" 193 STALLS

BUILDING "B"
20 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 20 STALLS
36 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 54 STALLS
25 - 3 BD * 2.0 = 50 STALLS
81 @ 1 PER 10 = 9 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "B" 133 STALLS

BUILDING "C"
10 - STUDIO * 1.0 = 10 STALLS
54 - 1 BD * 1.0 = 54 STALLS
92 - 2 BD * 1.5 = 138 STALLS
156 @ 1 PER 10 = 16 STALLS

TOTAL BUILDING "C" 218 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED 544 STALLS

PROVIDED

SURFACE 210 STALLS
GARAGE 307 STALLS

TOTAL PROVIDED 517 STALLS

OPEN PUBLIC SPACE
REQUIRED 1.5% OF GROSS BUILDING AREA

(504,766 S.F * 1.5% = 7,571 S.F)

PROVIDED 8,493 S.F. REQUIRED SPACE (LABEL OPEN ON PLAN)
4,173 S.F. PUBLIC BENEFIT SPACE (LABEL PLAZA ON PLAN)

BUILDING "A"
PARKING 20,756 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 10,080 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 140,799 S.F.
(29,382 S.F. x 4 LEVELS + 23,271 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL A:  171,635 S.F.*

BUILDING "B"
PARKING 17,865 S.F.
COMMERCIAL 2,713 S.F.
RESIDENTIAL 95,948 S.F.
(20,020 S.F. x4 LEVELS + 15,868 S.F. @ R5)

TOTAL B: 116,526 S.F.*

BUILDING "C"
P-O PARKING 39,634 S.F.
(BELOW GRADE)
P-1 PARKING 32,740 S.F.
P-1 AMENITY 6,847 S.F
R-1 UNITS 29,772 S.F.
R-1 AMENITY 5,369 S.F.
R-2 TO R-5 137,164 S.F.
(34,291 S.F. x4 LEVELS)

TOTAL C: 211,892 S.F.* (ABOVE GRADE)
251,526 S.F. (TOTAL BUILDING)

BUILDING "D"
BUILDING 4,713 S.F.*

TOTAL AREA * 504,766 S.F. (ABOVE GRADE)
544,400 S.F (TOTAL W/ B.G. PARKING)

FRONTAGE TABULATIONBUILDING TABULATIONZONING INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

SITE
LOCATION

SE 
W

AX 
RO

AD

SE 275 TH

17
2 

N
D

 A
V

E
 S

E

16
8 

TH
 P

L 
SE

CSD REVISIONS                 06.16.2014

PERSPECTIVES

A5.05

SW PERSPECTIVE - PLAZA ON 276TH / STOREFRONT LEVEL

NW PERSPECTIVE - BLANK WALL TREATMENT / GARAGE SCREENS - 171 ST SW PERSPECTIVE - STOREFRONTS - 171 ST

22 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 1 of 11 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN  

THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND GEMSTAR PROPERTIES, LLC 
FOR THE  

AFFINITY AT COVINGTON & POLARIS AT COVINGTON DEVELOPMENT 
 
 THIS DEVELOPMENTAGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is effective the ____ day of August, 2014 
(“Effective Date”), by and between the City of Covington, a Washington municipal corporation (the “City”), 
and Gemstar Properties, LLC, a Washington limited liability company and/or its assigns (“Gemstar” or the 
“Developer”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Legislature has authorized the execution of a development 
agreement between a local government and a person having ownership or control of real property within 
its jurisdiction (RCW 36.70B.170(1)); and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement dated December 3, 2013, Gemstar has 

contracted with Covington Towne Center, LLC to purchase approximately 7.03 acres of vacant land in the 
City of Covington’s town center district (the “Subject Property” as defined below); and 

 
WHEREAS, Gemstar intends to acquire the Subject Property and develop a 200-unit affordable 

family apartment community and a 156-unit senior apartment community , as conceptually depicted on the 
site plan attached hereto as Exhibit “B”; and 

 
WHEREAS, Gemstar has submitted a commercial site development application, File No. LU14-

0006/0010; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Subject Property lies within the Covington downtown zone, town center district, the 

development and design standards for which are set forth in the Chapter 18.31 of the Covington Municipal 
Code (CMC);   

 
WHEREAS, the City has adopted a process, set forth in CMC 18.31.045, for allowing deviations to 

the development standards within the downtown zone, town center district, through a development 
agreement.  So long as a development agreement is consistent with the applicable policies and goals of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan, deviations from development regulations may be granted to provide flexibility 
to achieve public benefits, to respond to changing community needs, or to encourage deviations that 
provide the functional equivalent or adequately achieve the purposes of otherwise applicable City 
standards; and 
 

WHEREAS, in exchange for certain deviations to the applicable development standards for the 
Project, Gemstar has offered certain mitigations that exceed those required under the City’s standard 
development regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City deems that the mitigations offered by Gemstar provide a level of public benefit 

proportionate to the deviations to the development standards requested for the Project and that the 
deviations are supported by the goals and policies in the City’s Comprehensive Plan;  and 

 

ATTACHMENT 2

23 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 2 of 11 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 18.114.040, a public hearing for this Agreement was held on July 22, 
2014, and the City Council approved this Development Agreement by Ordinance No. ___-14 on August 12, 
2014;  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants and promises of the parties herein 
contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
1. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
1.1. Subject Property. The Subject Property of the proposed development herein is located at 172nd 

Avenue SE and Future 274th Street in the City’s Town Center District, bearing parcel #3622059187 
(the “Subject Property”), as described as a portion of Parcel A, City of Covington Lot Line 
Adjustment number LU10-0005 (Covington Town Center) King County Recording Number 
0100811900003. The property lies within NW ¼, Section 36, Township 22N, and Range 5E WM, 
King County Washington.  As used in this Agreement, the term “Subject Property” shall mean the 
parcel of land described hereto as well as any parcels subsequently created by a division therefrom 
as part of a Binding Site Plan proposed by the Developer. 

 
1.2. The Project. The mixed-use development to be sited on the Subject Property in accordance with 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement as well as all other applicable development regulations 
is commonly referred to as the “Affinity at Covington” and the “Polaris at 
Covington“ developments (collectively the “Project”), as more particularly described in Exhibit “B” 
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  

 
2. TERM 

 
This Agreement shall commence upon the effective date of the Adopting Ordinance approving this 
Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect for a period of twenty (20) years unless extended 
or terminated as provided herein. Following the expiration of the term or extension thereof, or if 
sooner terminated, this Agreement shall have no force and effect, subject, however, to post-
termination obligations of the Developer or Landowner, if any.  
 

3. VESTED RIGHTS OF DEVELOPER 
 
3.1. Except as may be provided otherwise in this Agreement, for the Term of this Agreement, 

development of the Project shall be vested to and governed by City development regulations in 
effect as of the Effective Date of this Agreement. Except as expressly stated otherwise herein, 
any amendments or additions made during the Term of this Agreement to City development 
regulations shall not apply to or affect the conditions of development of the Project.  
 

3.2. As used in this Agreement, “development regulations” shall be deemed to include regulations, 
policies and procedures, and guidelines addressing zoning, environmental review, building and 
site design, utilities, stormwater, impact fees, transportation concurrency, and other laws, 
ordinances, policies, and administrative regulations and guidelines of the City governing land 
development. 
 

3.3. Nothing herein relieves the Developer of any obligations it may have during the Term to comply 

24 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 3 of 11 

with state or federal laws or regulations of any kind.  The proposed Project shall not be vested 
against the application of development standards that are imposed by virtue of state or federal 
pre-emption of the City’s regulatory authority.  As provided by RCW 36.70B.170(4), the 
proposed Project shall not vest against new development regulations to the extent the new 
regulations are required by a serious threat to public health and safety. 

 
3.4. The International Building Code, International Fire Code, and other construction codes in effect 

in the State of Washington as of the date of the filing of a complete application for a building 
permit for the Subject Property shall apply to all new development and the redevelopment or 
modification of existing development on the Subject Property.  

 
3.5. Permit, plan review, and inspection fees are exempt from vesting under this Agreement.  

 
3.6. The vesting described herein shall apply for the Term of this Agreement.  For those 

development standards not specifically enumerated in this section, land use, development, or 
building permit approvals shall be governed by the City codes and standards in effect upon the 
date of complete application.    

 
3.7. During the Term of this Agreement, the Developer may at its option develop the Subject 

Property or portions thereof in accordance with new code provisions or generally applicable 
standards for that subject adopted after the date of execution of this Agreement, without the 
obligation to bring other portions of the Subject Property into conformance with newly-
adopted codes or regulations. 
 

4. GROUND FLOOR COMMERCIAL USE DEVIATION 
 
4.1. Background. CMC 18.31.080(4)(26) requires that that sixty percent (60%) or more of the 

ground floor of a mixed-use building abutting a street or other public space shall be occupied 
by retail, restaurant, or personal services uses (“Commercial Use”).  Pursuant to the 
development agreement deviation process under CMC 18.31.045(4), the required Commercial 
Use shall not be reduced to less than thirty percent (30 %) along each street front. 

 
The Commercial Use standard is related to the amount of linear feet of building frontage that is 
provided for each structure along each public street.  Based on this calculation, Building A- 
Polaris at Covington is designed to occupy 429 linear feet of building frontage along 171st Ave 
SE, thus requiring 257 linear feet of Commercial Use to meet the 60% standard.  The Polaris at 
Covington project provides 223 linear feet of Commercial Use along 171st Ave SE, which 
equates to 52% of street frontage (a shortage of 8%, or 29 linear feet).   
 
Building B- Polaris at Covington project is designed to occupy 254 linear feet, and a portion of 
Building A that wraps around the corner of 171st Ave SE and SE 276th St is designed to occupy 
130 linear feet of SE 276th St for a total frontage of 384 linear feet. To meet the 60% standard, 
230 linear feet of Commercial Use is required along SE 276th St.  Building B and a portion of 
Building A is designed to provide 171 linear feet of Commercial Use along SE 276th St., which 
equates to 44% of street frontage (a shortage of 16%, or 58 linear feet).   

 
The Polaris at Covington (Buildings A & B) will provide a total of 12,793square feet of 
Commercial Use space. A majority of the Commercial Use space along SE 276th St, 
approximately 8,806 sq. ft., will be occupied by offices and amenities associated with the 

25 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 4 of 11 

Polaris at Covington development.  Possible amenities will include media and game rooms, 
fitness center, and spaces to use for tutoring or working on site, as well as other ancillary uses.    
The commercial space along 171st Ave SE, approximately 3,987 sq. ft. will be available for rent 
for future Commercial Use.  
 
The requirement to provide ground floor Commercial Use space is only applicable to the Polaris 
at Covington (Buildings A & B). The senior housing, Affinity at Covington (Building C) is a single 
use structure and is not required to provide ground floor Commercial Use.  

 
4.2. Authorized Deviation. The City authorizes the Polaris at Covington project to deviate from the 

sixty-percent (60%) Ground Floor Commercial Use Standard for Multi-family Developments in 
the Town Center zone requirement of CMC 18.31.080(4)(26) pursuant to the following 
conditions: 
 
4.2.1. Fifty-two percent (52%) of the ground level building frontage abutting 171st Avenue SE 

shall be occupied by, or designated for future Commercial Use;  
 

4.2.2. Forty-four percent (44%) of the ground level building frontage abutting SE 276th Street 
shall be occupied by, or designated for future use as, Commercial Use; 
 

4.2.3. The Developer shall be responsible for consistently advertising the above identified 
Commercial Use frontage and actively securing tenants to occupy said Commercial Use 
space throughout the duration of the life the building; and 

 
4.2.4. The Developer may use the above identified Commercial Use space for ancillary uses to 

the Polaris at Covington project (such as additional parking) upon the following 
conditions:    
 
4.2.4.1. Ancillary uses in said Commercial Use space shall be designed and 

constructed to look like a commercial storefront from the street, as 
conditioned in the Director’s Decision for the Commercial Site 
Development Permit and as required in the City’s Downtown Design 
Guidelines and Standards, until such time tenants are secured and the 
space is converted; and 
 

4.2.4.2. Ancillary uses of said Commercial Use spaces shall only be permitted for a 
period of ten (10) years from the Effective Date of this Agreement, unless 
otherwise extended by the City.  
 

5. GROUND FLOOR SCHOOL USE DEVIATION 
 
5.1. Background. CMC 18.31.080(4)(13) requires that schools, including compulsory, vocational, and 

higher education, be permitted pursuant to a conditional use permit, on the upper floors of a 
mixed-use building that includes ground floor retail.  There are no specific conditions in the 
City’s development Agreement process associated with a deviation from this requirement.   

 
This is a staff proposed deviation based on the City’s long term vision to provide for educational 
opportunities in the Town Center.  Polaris at Covington is the first large development project in 
the Town Center that will be constructing ground floor Commercial Space with the possibility 

26 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 5 of 11 

for occupancy within the next year (2015).  The City, in agreement with the Developer, would 
like the option to occupy the required Commercial Use space, per Section 4 herein, with school 
uses until a better location is constructed for school use and/or the market grows to fulfill the 
Commercial Use space at the Polaris at Covington project. 
 

5.2. Authorized Deviation. The City authorizes the Polaris at Covington project to deviate from the 
requirement that schools shall be located on the upper floors of mixed use structures in the 
Town Center zone as required in CMC 18.31.080(4)(13) provided: 
 
5.2.1. The Developer and a school are able to agree upon a mutually satisfactory agreement 

for the use of the first floor Commercial Space; 
 

5.2.2. Any tenant improvements included as part of said agreement, or any other 
improvements to a first floor space to accommodate a school use, shall maintain and 
include facade requirements as required in the City’s Downtown Design Guidelines and 
Standards; and 
 

5.2.3. The City’s conditional use permit requirement for the location of schools pursuant to 
CMC 18.31.080(4)(13) is hereby waived for the purposes of locating school uses 
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.  
 

6. MITIGATION  
 
In consideration of the City’s authorized permitted use deviations as provided for in Section 4 herein, 
the Developer agrees to the following mitigation measures. 
 
6.1. Public Benefit Spaces. The Developer agrees to devote a combined 4,314 sq. ft. of public 

benefit space on the Subject Property to the City pursuant to the following.  
 
6.1.1. Public Benefit Spaces Locations. The locations of the below public benefit spaces are 

based on the City’s 2009 Downtown Plan and Zoning Study that identifies 171st Ave SE 
as a prominent “Main Street” and the vision for future development to the west, north, 
and south of the Polaris and Affinity developments.  Based on the City’s vision for a 
walkable downtown, it is necessary to provide public spaces at the intersections that 
will function as mini plazas that will be invite pedestrians, provide greenery along the 
street, and be used as spaces where people can gather.  These mini plazas will also 
function cohesively with the streetscape and other plazas that will be constructed as 
part of surrounding developments, particularly the plazas along SE 276th St.  These 
plazas will create a connection to the future city park/plaza identified on the property 
to the south of the Subject Property.    

 
6.1.1.1. Public Space No. 1 shall be located at the northwest corner of the Subject 

Property (adjacent to the future intersection of 171st Ave SE and SE 274th St) 
and shall be approximately 1,266 sq. ft.; 
 

6.1.1.2. Public Space No. 2 shall be located at the southwest corner of the Subject 
Property (adjacent to the intersection of 171st Ave SE and SE 276th St) and 
shall be approximately 895 sq. ft.; and 
 

27 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 6 of 11 

6.1.1.3. Public Spaces No. 3 & 4 shall be located mid-block along the frontage of SE 
276th St. between Buildings A and B, pursuant to the commercial site 
development plans, and shall be approximately 2,180 sq. ft (combined 
total). 

 
6.1.2. Construction of Public Benefit Spaces. The Developer agrees to plan, design, and 

construct the above public benefit spaces as part of the Commercial Site Development 
Permit approval and according to the following requirements: 
 
6.1.2.1. Design of the spaces shall include hardscaping, textured concrete surfaces, 

benches/seating areas, and a bike rack. Landscaped raised planters shall be 
used to differentiate the location of the public benefit space and required 
spaces associated with the Polaris at Covington development.  

 
6.1.2.2. The Developer shall be responsible for all initial capital costs to construct 

the public benefit spaces pursuant to final approved construction plans by 
the City.  

 
6.1.2.3. The Developer shall be required to post a separate financial guarantee for 

the construction of the public benefit spaces prior the issuance of any 
construction permits for the Subject Property.   

 
6.1.2.4. The Developer shall be responsible for completing construction of the 

public benefit spaces prior to final acceptance of Subject Property site 
improvements by the City.  The City reserves the right to withhold the 
issuance of permits for the Subject Property and/or the release of any 
financial guarantees for the Subject Property until said public benefit 
spaces are constructed, unless otherwise approved by the City. 

 
6.1.3. Maintenance of Public Benefit Spaces. Upon construction of the public benefit spaces, 

the Developer shall enter into a separate maintenance agreement with the City for the 
ongoing maintenance of the public benefit spaces. Said maintenance agreement shall 
include a term requiring the Developer to be responsible for the ongoing maintenance 
costs for the public benefit spaces, with any direct cost for such maintenance passed on 
to the City for reimbursement.  
 

6.1.4. Public Space Easement.  Upon completion of the construction of the public benefit 
spaces, the Developer shall execute an easement with the city benefiting the city for 
the public benefit spaces in perpetuity upon the terms pursuant to Section 6.1.  

 
6.2. Street and Utility Infrastructure. In addition to the devotion of the public benefit spaces in 

Section 5.1, the City shall recognize the level of street and utility infrastructure necessary for 
the Subject Property to develop as additional mitigation measure provided by the Developer.  
171st Ave SE and SE 276th St are identified in the City’s 6-year Transportation Improvement 
Projects 2015-2020 list as developer driven projects.  Although the Developer is responsible for 
the cost and construction of the infrastructure necessary for their development, the installation 
of the improvements will provide a catalyst for adjacent developments because a majority of 
the required utilities (sewer, water, power, lights, etc.) will be more readily available for direct 
connections.  

28 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 7 of 11 

 
7. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 
The parties shall use their best efforts to resolve disputes arising out of or related to this Agreement 
using good faith negotiations by engaging in the following dispute escalation process should any such 
disputes arise:    
 
7.1. Level One – The Developer’s project manager and a City staff member appropriate to the 

nature of the dispute shall meet to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute in a timely 
manner.  If they cannot resolve the dispute within fourteen (14) calendar days after referral of 
that dispute to Level One, either party may refer the dispute to Level Two.    
 

7.2. Level Two – The Developer’s principal and the City’s Community Development Director or 
authorized designee shall meet to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute in a timely 
manner.  If they cannot resolve the dispute within fourteen (14) business days after referral of 
that dispute to Level Two, either party may refer the dispute to Level Three.    

 
7.3. Level Three – The Developer’s principal (or designee) and the City Manager (or designee) shall 

meet to discuss and attempt to resolve the dispute in a timely manner.  Counsel for the parties 
shall be permitted to attend Level Three meetings.   

 
7.4. Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, in the event the dispute is not resolved at 

Level Three within fourteen (14) calendar days after referral of that dispute to Level Three, 
either party may commence legal proceedings.   

 
7.5. At all times prior to resolution of the dispute, the parties shall continue to perform under this 

Agreement in the same manner and under the same terms as existed prior to the dispute.   
 

7.6. Nothing in this Section 7 shall preclude either party from seeking injunctive or equitable relief 
prior to the initiation or completion of this dispute resolution process.   

 
8. DEFAULT   

 
8.1. Subject to extensions of time by mutual consent in writing, failure or delay by either party to 

perform any term or provision of this Agreement shall constitute a default.  In the event of an 
alleged default or breach of any terms or conditions of this Agreement, the party alleging such 
default or breach shall give the other party not less than thirty (30) days notice in writing, 
specifying the nature of the alleged default and the manner in which said default may be cured.  
During this thirty (30) day period, the party charged shall not be considered in default for 
purposes of termination or institution of legal proceedings.     
 

8.2. After notice and expiration of the thirty (30) day period, if such default has not been cured or is 
not being diligently cured in the manner set forth in the notice, the other party to this 
Agreement may, at its option, institute legal proceedings pursuant to this Agreement.   

 
9. TERMINATION 

 
9.1. This Agreement shall automatically terminate and be of no further force and effect upon any of 

the following occurrences: 

29 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 8 of 11 

 
9.1.1. If the development contemplated in this Agreement and all of the permits and/or 

approvals issued by the City for such development are not substantially underway prior 
to expiration of such permits and/or approvals.  Nothing in this Agreement shall extend 
the expiration date of any permit or approval issued by the City for any development;     
 

9.1.2. If the Developer does not construct the Project as contemplated by the permits and 
approvals identified in this Agreement and submits applications for development of the 
Property that are inconsistent with such permits and approvals;  or 
 

9.1.3. Upon the expiration of the term identified in Section 2 herein or when the Subject 
Property has been fully developed, which ever first occurs, and all of the Developer’s 
obligations in connection therewith are satisfied as determined by the City.   
 

Upon the termination of this Agreement, the City shall record a notice of such termination in a 
form satisfactory to the City Attorney that the Agreement has been terminated.   
 

9.2. Effect of Termination.   
 
9.2.1. Termination of this Agreement shall not affect any of the Developer’s obligations to 

comply with the City Comprehensive Plan and the terms and conditions or any 
applicable zoning code(s) or subdivision map or other land use entitlements approved 
with respect to the Subject Property, any other conditions of any other development 
specified in the Agreement to continue after the termination of this Agreement or 
obligations to pay assessments, liens, fees, or taxes.    
 

9.2.2. Upon any termination of this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement 
shall no longer be vested with respect to the Subject Property (provided that vesting of 
ulterior terms and conditions may then be established for the Subject Property 
pursuant to then existing planning and zoning laws).       

 
10. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
10.1. Contingencies. This Agreement and the obligations hereunder shall be contingent upon 

Gemstar, or entities under common control with Gemstar, acquiring fee title to the Subject 
Property. 

 
10.2. No Third Party Beneficiaries. The City shall not be obligated or liable under the terms of this 

Agreement to any person or entity not a party hereto.  Further, the City shall not be bound by 
any contracts or conditions that the Developer may negotiate with third parties related to the 
Subject Property or Project, other than customary rights required by a lender. 
 

10.3. Entire Agreement. This Agreement embodies the whole agreement of the parties concerning 
its subject matter; there are no promises, terms, conditions, or obligations other than those 
contained herein that exist with respect to its subject matter; and this Agreement shall 
supersede all provisions, communications, representations, or agreement, either verbal or 
written, between the parties with respect to its subject matter. 

 
10.4. No Joint Venture. Notwithstanding any language in this Agreement, the City shall not be 

30 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 9 of 11 

deemed to be a member, partner, or joint venture partner of the Developer and the City shall 
not be responsible for any debt or liability of the Developer.  Gemstar shall not be responsible 
for any debt or liability of the City. 
 

10.5. Covenants Running with the Land. The conditions and covenants set forth in this Agreement 
shall run with the land and the benefits and burdens shall bind and inure to the benefit of the 
parties.  The Owner and every purchaser, assignee, or transferee of an interest in the Property, 
or any portion thereof, shall be obligated and bound by the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and shall be the beneficiary thereof and a party thereto, but only with respect to 
the Property, or such portion thereof, sold, assigned, or transferred to it.  Any such purchaser, 
assignee, or transferee shall observe and fully perform all of the duties and obligations of the 
Owner contained in this Agreement, as such duties and obligations pertain to the portion of the 
Property sold, assigned, or transferred to it.     

 
10.6. Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended by mutual written consent of the parties. 

Amendments to this Agreement that materially modify the intent and policy of the Agreement 
must be approved by the City Council.  Other amendments may be approved by the City 
Manager. 
 

10.7. Assignment. The Developer shall not assign any part of this Agreement without the prior 
written approval of the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, except that 
the Developer may assign this Agreement to any entity under control of Gemstar without prior 
written approval of the City.  
 

10.8. Hold Harmless and indemnification. In the event any legal action or special proceeding is 
commenced by any person or entity other than a party to challenge this Agreement or any 
provision herein, the City may elect to tender the defense of such lawsuit or individual claims in 
the lawsuit to the Developer.  In such event, the Developer shall hold the City harmless from 
and defend the City from all costs and expenses incurred in the defense of such lawsuit or 
individual claims in the lawsuit including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees and expenses of 
litigation and damages awarded to the prevailing party or parties in such litigation.  The 
Developer shall not settle any such lawsuit without the consent of the City.  The City shall act in 
good faith and shall not unreasonably withhold consent to settle. 
 

10.9. No Waiver.  Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default immediately upon 
occurrence shall not waive such breach or default. Failure of the City to declare one breach or 
default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare another breach or default. 
 

10.10. Specific Performance.  The parties specifically agree that damages are not an adequate remedy 
for breach of this Agreement and that the parties are entitled to compel specific performance 
of all material terms of this Agreement by any party in default hereof. 
 

10.11. Severability.  Each and every provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to be severable. The 
invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Agreement shall not affect the 
other provisions hereof, and the Agreement shall be construed in all respects as if such invalid 
or unenforceable provision were not a part of this Agreement.  
 

10.12. Notices.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed to have been duly given if personally delivered or mailed, by first class, certified mail or 

31 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 10 of 11 

overnight courier, with postage prepaid to the address included in the signature block below, or 
to such other person or place as one party shall furnish to the other in writing. Notices and 
payments shall be deemed given upon personal delivery or, if mailed, upon the earlier of actual 
receipt or three (3) business days after the date of mailing. 

 
10.13. Governing Law / Venue.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Washington. The venue for any cause of action arising out of this Agreement shall 
be King County, Washington. 

 
10.14. Attorney’s Fees.  If any party initiates legal proceedings related to the validity, construction, 

enforcement, interpretation or breach of this Agreement, the substantially prevailing party 
shall be entitled to all costs of such proceedings including reasonable attorney’s fees. The term 
“legal proceedings” as used in this paragraph shall include all litigation, arbitration, 
administrative, bankruptcy, and judicial proceedings, including appeals therefrom. 

 
10.15. Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of reference 

and shall be given no effect in the interpretation of this Agreement.   
 

10.16. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded against the Subject Property as a covenant 
running with the land and shall be binding on the Developer, its heirs, successors, and assigns 
until this Agreement expires on its own terms pursuant to Section 2.  

 
10.17. Full Understanding. The parties each acknowledge, represent, and agree that they have read 

this Agreement; that they fully understand the terms thereof, that they have had the 
opportunity to be fully advised by their legal counsel and any other advisors with respect 
thereto; and that they are executing this Agreement after sufficient review and understanding 
of its content. 

 
10.18. Authority.  Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of the City and the Developer 

represents and warrants that such individuals are duly authorized to execute and deliver this 
Agreement on behalf of the City or Developer, respectively. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first 

above written. 
 

 
CITY OF COVINGTON  
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100 
Covington, WA  98042 
 
Attest:  
 
By _____________________________ 
     City Clerk 

      
Approved as to form: 
By ____________________________ 
     City Attorney 
 
OWNER 
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
Gemstar Properties, LLC 
1620 North Mamer Road, Bldg B 
Spokane Valley, WA  99216 
   

32 of 83



 

Polaris and Affinity at Covington Development Agreement - Page 11 of 11 
 

 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON) 
              ) ss. 
KING COUNTY             ) 
 
On this _________ day of ___________, 2014, before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the 
State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared _______________________, 
to me known to be an authorized representative of ____________________________, who executed 
the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that the said instrument was signed as his/her free 
and voluntary act and deed, for the uses and purposes therein mentioned.   
 
     WITNESS my hand and official seal this ______ day of _____________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Print Name) __________________________ 
      Notary Public, Residing at ________________ 
      My appointment expires: ________________ 
 

33 of 83



 

 Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  July 22, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE CONTRACT 

AMENDMENT #1 FOR SOLID WASTE SERVICES WITH REPUBLIC 
SERVICES. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Contract for Services Amendment #1 
 
PREPARED BY:  Shellie Bates, Programs Supervisor 
 
EXPLANATION: 
On April 9, 2013 the City Council approved the solid waste contract with Republic Services to 
begin on July 1, 2013.  Since then, there have been several minor updates that need to be made to 
make the contract language consistent with the fee structure. 
 
Contract Amendments: 

• Section 2.2.3.3 Specific Collection Requirements will be amended as follows: 
Compostable materials shall be collected every-other-week on the same 
scheduled service day as Garbage collection.  Compostables in excess of ninety-
six (96) two hundred eighty-eight (288) total gallons may be charged as Extra 
Compostables in thirty-two (32) gallon increments in accordance with 
Attachment B, except during the two (2) collection cycles immediately following 
a storm event, when up to ninety-six (96) additional gallons of storm debris shall 
be accepted with regular quantities of Compostables without extra charge.  
Customers may also elect to subscribe to one or more 96-gallon Compostables 
Carts in addition to their initial Compostables Cart at a reduced rate in 
accordance with Attachment B. 

• Attachment B will be amended as follows: 
1. Add a rate for Yard-Food Waste Only Service. 

Every other week Yard-Food Waste Only Service (includes 96-gal. cart) service 
fee - $8.50.  This is the same rate as the previous WUTC rate. 

2. Add a rate for Recycle Only Service. 
Every other week Recycling Only Service (includes 96-gal. cart) service fee - 
$7.81.  This is the same rate as the previous WUTC rate. 

3. Add Extra Lift Rates for Commerical/Multifamily Detachable Containers. 
 See Attachment B – Rate Schedule for rates. 
4. Add mileage fee for commercial drop-box customers. 
 Mileage Fee (per mile, beyond 10 miles).  If a commercial customer requests that 

the hauler take the drop box to a different transfer station.  Per Section 2.2.9.3. 
5. Add clarification for Extra yard waste for residential curbside on Ancillary 

Fee Schedule. 
 Extra Yard waste (per 32 gallon) in excess of 288 gallons.  Per Section 2.2.3.3. 

34 of 83



 

 
Covington staff recommends that the contract amendment be approved to clarify language in the 
contract and rate schedule (Attachment B to the contract). 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
Not to amend the contract. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:    
The city will receive $75,000 per year (in equal monthly payments) as an administrative fee from 
Republic Services. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:           Ordinance            Resolution        X     Motion            Other 
  

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to execute Contract Amendment #1 
for solid waste services with Republic Services. 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

35 of 83



 Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CONTRACT FOR SERVICES 

 
Amendment #1 

 
Between the City of Covington and Fiorito Enterprises, Inc. and 
Rabanco Companies, d/b/a Kent-Meridian Disposal Company 

 
That portion of Contract No. 1190-13 between the City of Covington and Fiorito 
Enterprises, Inc. and Rabanco Companies, d/b/a Kent-Meridian Disposal Company, 
entered into by the parties on the 9th day of April, 2013 (“Agreement”), is amended 
pursuant to Section 6.17 of said Agreement as follows: 
 
1. Section 2.2.3.3 Specific Collection Requirements shall be amended as follows:   

 
Compostable materials shall be collected every-other-week 
on the same scheduled service day as Garbage collection.  
Compostables in excess of ninety-six (96) two hundred 
eighty-eight (288) total gallons may be charged as Extra 
Compostables in thirty-two (32) gallon increments in 
accordance with Attachment B, except during the two (2) 
collection cycles immediately following a storm event, when 
up to ninety-six (96) additional gallons of storm debris shall 
be accepted with regular quantities of Compostables without 
extra charge.  Customers may also elect to subscribe to one 
or more 96-gallon Compostables Carts in addition to their 
initial Compostables Cart at a reduced rate in accordance 
with Attachment B.   

 
2. Attachment B of the Agreement shall be amended as follows and pursuant to 

Exhibit 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference: 
 

a. Addition of every other week Yard-Food Waste Only Service (includes 96-gal. 
cart) service fee - $8.50. 
 

b. Addition of every other week Recycling Only Service (includes 96-gal. 
cart) service fee - $7.81. 

 
c. Addition of Extra lift Rates for Commercial/Multifamily Detachable 

Containers. 
 

d. Addition of mileage fee for commercial drop-box customers that request 
the hauler to take the drop box to a different transfer station (Pursuant to 
Section 2.2.9.3 of the Agreement). 

 

ATTACHMENT 1

36 of 83



 Page 2 of 2 

e. Addition to Ancillary Fee Schedule for Extra Yardwaste (per 32 gallon) in 
excess of 288 gallons (Pursuant to Section 2.2.3.3 of the Agreement). 

 
 
All other provisions of the contract shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Dated this ______ day of July, 2014. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year written 
above. 
 
CITY OF COVINGTON 
 
 
____________________________________ 
By: Derek Matheson  
Its: City Manager 
 
Attest:       Approved as to form: 
 
 
____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk    Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
KENT-MERIDIAN DISPOSAL COMPANY 
 
 
____________________________________ 
By: ______________________________ 
Its: ______________________________ 
 
 

37 of 83



City of Covington
Service Rate Schedule

Disposal Index:
KC Fee, Base: $120.17

Weekly One 20-gallon Mini-Cart 11.88          3.09$          8.30$           11.39$         
Residential 1 32-gallon Garbage Cart 19.95          5.19$          12.15$         17.34$         
Curbside 1 64-gallon Garbage Cart 39.90          10.38$        14.51$         24.89$         
(includes 1 96-gallon Garbage Cart 59.85          15.57$        17.81$         33.38$         

embedded
EoW recycling) YWFW Fees:

EoW Yard-Food Waste service (includes 96-gallon cart) 7.50$           

* 8.50$           *
* 7.81$           *

0.12$                

0.25$                

Weekly Cart Garbage Collection:
Commercial / 1 32-gallon Garbage Cart 19.95          5.19$          13.21$         18.40$         
Multifamily 1 64-gallon Garbage Cart 39.90          10.38$        19.08$         29.46$         
(includes 1-96 gallon Garbage Cart 59.85          15.57$        27.84$         43.41$         

embedded
recycling)

Extra Lift Rate *
Commercial / 1 Cubic yard, 1 pickup/week 137.69        35.82$        51.48$         87.30$         20.16$           *
Multifamily 1 Cubic yard, 2 pickups/week 275.37        71.64$        102.97$       174.61$       20.16$           *
Detachable 1 Cubic yard, 3 pickups/week 413.06        107.46$      154.45$       261.91$       20.16$           *
Container 1 Cubic yard, 4 pickups/week 550.74        143.29$      205.93$       349.22$       20.16$           *

(loose) 1 Cubic yard, 5 pickups/week 688.43        179.11$      257.41$       436.52$       20.16$           *
1.5 Cubic Yard, 1 pickup/week 206.53        53.73$        69.29$         123.03$       28.41$           *
1.5 Cubic Yard, 2 pickups/week 413.06        107.46$      138.59$       246.05$       28.41$           *
1.5 Cubic Yard, 3 pickups/week 619.58        161.20$      207.88$       369.08$       28.41$           *
1.5 Cubic Yard, 4 pickups/week 826.11        214.93$      277.18$       492.10$       28.41$           *
1.5 Cubic Yard, 5 pickups/week 1,032.64     268.66$      346.47$       615.13$       28.41$           *
2 Cubic Yard, 1 pickup/week 275.37        71.64$        85.06$         156.70$       36.19$           *
2 Cubic Yard, 2 pickups/week 550.74        143.29$      170.12$       313.40$       36.19$           *
2 Cubic Yard, 3 pickups/week 826.11        214.93$      255.17$       470.10$       36.19$           *
2 Cubic Yard, 4 pickups/week 1,101.48     286.57$      340.23$       626.80$       36.19$           *
2 Cubic Yard, 5 pickups/week 1,376.85     358.21$      425.29$       783.50$       36.19$           *
3 Cubic Yard, 1 pickup/week 413.06        107.46$      126.06$       233.53$       53.93$           *
3 Cubic Yard, 2 pickups/week 826.11        214.93$      252.13$       467.05$       53.93$           *
3 Cubic Yard, 3 pickups/week 1,239.17     322.39$      378.19$       700.58$       53.93$           *
3 Cubic Yard, 4 pickups/week 1,652.22     429.86$      504.25$       934.11$       53.93$           *
3 Cubic Yard, 5 pickups/week 2,065.28     537.32$      630.32$       1,167.63$    53.93$           *
4 Cubic Yard, 1 pickup/week 550.74        143.29$      162.00$       305.28$       70.50$           *
4 Cubic Yard, 2 pickups/week 1,101.48     286.57$      323.99$       610.56$       70.50$           *
4 Cubic Yard, 3 pickups/week 1,652.22     429.86$      485.99$       915.84$       70.50$           *
4 Cubic Yard, 4 pickups/week 2,202.96     573.14$      647.98$       1,221.12$    70.50$           *
4 Cubic Yard, 5 pickups/week 2,753.70     716.43$      809.98$       1,526.40$    70.50$           *
6 Cubic Yard, 1 pickup/week 826.11        214.93$      242.41$       457.34$       105.62$         *
6 Cubic Yard, 2 pickups/week 1,652.22     429.86$      484.82$       914.68$       105.62$         *
6 Cubic Yard, 3 pickups/week 2,478.33     644.78$      727.23$       1,372.01$    105.62$         *
6 Cubic Yard, 4 pickups/week 3,304.44     859.71$      969.64$       1,829.35$    105.62$         *
6 Cubic Yard, 5 pickups/week 4,130.55     1,074.64$   1,212.05$    2,286.69$    105.62$         *

 8 Cubic Yard, 1 pickup/week 1,101.48     286.57$      316.42$       602.99$       139.26$         *
8 Cubic Yard, 2 pickups/week 2,202.96     573.14$      632.84$       1,205.98$    139.26$         *
8 Cubic Yard, 3 pickups/week 3,304.44     859.71$      949.26$       1,808.97$    139.26$         *
8 Cubic Yard, 4 pickups/week 4,405.93     1,146.28$   1,265.68$    2,411.96$    139.26$         *
8 Cubic Yard, 5 pickups/week 5,507.41     1,432.85$   1,582.10$    3,014.95$    139.26$         *
Extra loose cubic yard, per pickup 137.69        8.27$          7.33$           15.00$         

If City chooses to implement Mandatory Residential Collection with YW Embedded Residential Service Rates will decrease

If City chooses to implement Mandatory MSW Collection Residential Service Rates will decrease

EoW Yard-Food Waste Only service (includes 96-gallon cart)
EoW Recycle Only service (includes 96-gallon cart)

Service
FeeService Level

 Pounds per 
Unit 

Disposal
Fee

Collection
Fee

EXHIBIT 1 
Revised - Per Amendment #1 to Contract No. 1190-13 

Rate Schedule ATTACHMENT B

138 of 83



City of Covington
Service Rate Schedule

Weekly 1 Cubic Yard Container 481.9          125.37$      405.75$       531.12$       122.66$         *
Commercial 2 Cubic Yard Container 963.8          250.75$      460.22$       710.97$       278.52$         *
Detachable 3 Cubic Yard Container 1,445.7       376.12$      491.70$       867.82$       417.78$         *
Container 4 Cubic Yard Container 1,927.6       501.50$      511.74$       1,013.23$    557.03$         *

(compacted) 6 Cubic Yard Container 2,891.4       752.25$      726.38$       1,478.63$    696.29$         *

Service Level (based on pick ups)
Commercial Non-compacted 15 cubic yard Drop-box 1.31$          40.00$        85.00$         160.00$       

Drop-box Non-compacted 20 cubic yard Drop-box 1.38$          42.00$        85.00$         160.00$       
Collection Non-compacted 25 cubic yard Drop-box 1.44$          44.00$        85.00$         160.00$       

Non-compacted 30 cubic yard Drop-box 1.48$          45.00$        85.00$         160.00$       
Non-compacted 40 cubic yard Drop-box 1.54$          47.00$        85.00$         160.00$       
Compacted 15 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$         180.00$       
Compacted 20 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$         180.00$       
Compacted 25 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$         180.00$       
Compacted 30 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$         180.00$       
Compacted 40 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$         180.00$       

* Mileage Fee (per mile, beyond 10 miles) 2.85$           *

Service Level
Temporary 2 Yard detachable container 275.37        16.55$        14.14$         30.68$         
Collection 4 Yard detachable container 550.74        33.09$        24.39$         57.48$         

Hauling 6 Yard detachable container 826.11        49.64$        39.49$         89.12$         
8 Yard detachable container 1,101.48     66.18$        50.69$         116.87$       
Non-compacted 10 cubic yard Drop-box 170.00$       
Non-compacted 20 cubic yard Drop-box 170.00$       
Non-compacted 30 cubic yard Drop-box 170.00$       
Non-compacted 40 cubic yard Drop-box 170.00$       

Delivery Daily Monthly
Fee Rental Rental

Temporary 2 Yard detachable container 40.00$        2.00$           61.00$         
Collection 4 Yard detachable container 40.00$        2.00$           61.00$         
Container 6 Yard detachable container 40.00$        2.00$           61.00$         

Rental 8 Yard detachable container 40.00$        2.00$           61.00$         
and Delivery Non-compacted 10 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$        5.00$           152.50$       

Non-compacted 20 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$        5.00$           152.50$       
Non-compacted 30 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$        5.00$           152.50$       
Non-compacted 40 cubic yard Drop-box 85.00$        5.00$           152.50$       

Daily
Rent

Monthly
Rent

Delivery
Charge

Haul
Charge

Service Level

Pounds per 
Unit

Disposal
Fee

Collection
Fee

Haul
Charge

EXHIBIT 1 
Revised - Per Amendment #1 to Contract No. 1190-13 

Rate Schedule ATTACHMENT B

239 of 83



City of Covington
Ancillary Fee Schedule

Miscellaneous Fees:
 Pounds per 

Unit 
Disposal

Fee
Collection

Fee
Service

Fee
Extras (32 gallon equivalent) 19.95           1.20$           3.80$           5.00$                  
Additional Yard-Food Waste service 5.00$                  
Extra Yardwaste (per 32 gallon) in excess of 288 gallons* 3.50$                  

Residential Return Trip 15.00$                
Curbside Carry-out Charge, per 25 ft, per month 5.00$                  

Drive-in Charge, per month 5.00$                  
Overweight/Oversize container (per p/u) 5.00$                  
Bad Debt Service Interruption, container retrieval 45.00$                
Redelivery of containers 15.00$                
Extra Recycling Container, per month 2.50$                  
NSF Check Fee 40.00$                
Cart Cleaning (per cart per event in conjunction cart redelivery) 5.00$                  

On-Call White Goods, except refrigerators 55.00$                
Bulky Refrigerators, Freezers and Console TVs 75.00$                
Waste Sofas, Chairs, Mattresses 55.00$                

Collection

Commercial / Miscellaneous Fees:
 Pounds per 

Unit 
Disposal

Fee
Collection

Fee
Service

Fee
Multifamily Extras (32 gallon equivalent) 19.95           1.20$           3.80$           5.00$                  

Return Trip 15.00$                
Drive-in Charge, per month 5.00$                  
Overweight/Oversize container (per p/u) 40.00$                
Suspension of service, container retrieval 45.00$                
Redelivery of containers 15.00$                
NSF Check Fee 40.00$                
Cart Cleaning - up to 8yd (per cart per event) 35.00$                
Cart Cleaning - over 8yd (per cart per event) 55.00$                
Roll-out Container over 15 feet (per p/u) 3.00$                  
Unlock Container (per p/u) 1.50$                  
Gate Opening (per p/u) 1.50$                  
Container Repair (per hour) plus materials 75.00$                

Damaged/Missing Container Replacement Fee
 Current 

Container Value 

Miscellaneous Fees: Per Event
Drop-box Return Trip 25.00$                
Collection Lidded Containers (per month) 20.00$                

Locking Containers (per month) 5.00$                  
Compactor Connect / Disconnect 15.00$                
Drop-box turn around charge 15.00$                

Labor Service $ per/hour
Hourly Rates Rear/Side-load packer + driver 105.00$              

Front-load packer + driver 105.00$              
Drop-box Truck + driver 105.00$              
Weekend/Holiday Service per Hour (4-hour minimum) 60.00$                
Clean-up 60.00$                
Additional Labor (per person) 45.00$                

EXHIBIT 1 
Revised - Per Amendment #1 to Contract No. 1190-13 

Rate Schedule ATTACHMENT B

340 of 83



Agenda Item 3  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: July 22, 2014  
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER RESOLUTION APPROVING AGREEMENTS WITH GEMSTAR 

PROPERTIES (AKA INLAND GROUP) FOR TWELVE-YEAR MULTIFAMILY 
PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTIONS FOR THE POLARIS AND AFFINITY AT 
COVINGTON DEVELOPMENTS IN THE TOWN CENTER ZONE KNOWN AS 
COVINGTON MIXED-USE, CITY FILE NO. LU14-0006/0010  

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S):  

1. 2014 Rent and Income Limit Chart- King County.  
2. Multifamily Tax Exemption Application for Polaris at Covington. 
3. Multifamily Tax Exemption Application for Affinity at Covington. 
4. Proposed Resolution Approving the City Manager to Execute Agreements with Gemstar 

Properties for Twelve-Year Multifamily Housing Limited Property Tax Exemptions for 
Polaris and Affinity at Covington. 
 

PREPARED BY:  Salina Lyons, Principal Planner 
 
EXPLANATION: 
On April 24, 2014, developer Alan Springer, Project Development Manager, on behalf of 
Gemstar Properties (aka Inland Group, the “Developer”) submitted two applications for 
Multifamily Tax Exemption (MFTE) for the Polaris and Affinity at Covington development 
projects City File Nos. LU14-0007/0010 and LU14-0008/0010.  (Attachments 2 & 3).  The 
Developer’s request for the MFTEs is associated with their commercial site development 
application known as Covington Mixed-Use, City File No. LU14-0006/0010. 
 
The Covington Mixed-Use project is located in the Town Center (TC), which is identified as one 
of the city’s residential targeted areas.   The proposed development is a mixed-use development 
that consists of four structures identified as Buildings A, B, C and D.  Building D is a pool house 
and is an amenity associated with Building C.  
 
During the 3rd quarter of 2015 staff anticipates approving with conditions the underlying 
Commercial Site Development Application for Covington Mixed-Use, with permits issued for 
onsite construction during the 4th quarter of 2015.  The Developer is forecasting that the project 
will be completed in the 1st/2nd quarter of 2016.  
 
The Developer is requesting to utilize the affordability standards for a twelve-year property tax 
exemption as allowed under CMC 3.80 (Ordinance 05-12), adopted by the City Council on 
February 28, 2012.  The project will include 200 units of multifamily residential units and 156 
units of age restricted senior housing.  The affordability standards are based on the current King 
County Area Median Income (AMI) for 2014, which is $88,200 for a family of four.  Affordable 
unit rents are set according to the schedule of income and rent limits for different percentages of 
income for the Metropolitan Service Area (Seattle-Bellevue) as shown on Attachment 1.  Note: 
the tax exemption does not apply to the non-residential space within the building.  Currently the 

41 of 83



project includes roughly 3,947 sq. ft. of non-residential space.  Taxes will be collected for the 
commercial space as it becomes available for lease.  
 
Polaris at Covington   (Attachment 2) 
Buildings A and B are six-story mixed-use buildings with 200 units of affordable family 
apartments, ground level commercial space and parking. These buildings are referred to as 
Polaris at Covington. The buildings will include a mix of housing sizes ranging from 1 to 3- 
bedrooms. 
 
All of the units at Polaris at Covington will be restricted to households earning 60% of the King 
County AMI, as adjusted for household size. For a family of 4, the income limit at 60% of AMI 
is $52,920. The unit information and bedroom diversity are shown in Attachment 2.  The 
projected market rates range from $1,050 for a 1-bedroom unit to $1,453 for a 3-bedroom unit.  
Based on 2014 AMI the 60% rents will range from $925 for a 1-bedroom unit and $1,275 for a 
3-bedroom unit, a discount of over 13% from market rates.  
 
Affinity at Covington (Attachment 3) 
Building C is a six-story building with 156 dwelling units and amenity space.  This facility is 
referred to as Affinity at Covington, and will provide senior living and will be age-restricted to 
seniors age 55 or older. The building will contain a mix of housing types ranging from studios to 
2- bedrooms, with more than 50% 2-bedroom units.  
 
The majority of the units at Affinity will be market rate, with 20% (32 units) rented to low or 
moderate incomes within 80% of King County’s AMI.  Generally, seniors (55+) are in the 
income range for a family of 2 or 1, which is $56,480 and $49,360, respectively. The affordable 
units will be disbursed throughout the facility and will include a mix of bedroom options.  
 
Application Review 
Upon review, staff has approved both applications as meeting the requirements of CMC 3.80 to 
qualify for a twelve-year property tax exemption. The projects are located within an approved 
target area (TC). The affordable units are located in a multifamily development with more than 
four units. The units are diverse and provide a mix of unit configurations (studios to 3-
bedrooms), and the project will be completed within three years from the start date.  
 
Next Steps 
Upon council approval of the proposed agreements with the Developer for the MFTE for each 
project (Attachments 4 & 5) staff will then issue a Conditional Certificate for the Multifamily 
Tax Exemption.  The CMC calls for the council to approve the MFTE agreements in the form of 
a resolution, a proposed draft of which is included as Attachment 6. The agreements ensure on-
going compliance with the requirements in CMC 3.80, subsequent development agreements, and 
guarantees the appropriate period for the property tax exemption.   
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Direct staff to provide additional information before council consideration and adoption of the 
Resolution for Multifamily Property Tax Exemptions Agreements for the Polaris and Affinity at 
Covington mixed-use development projects.   
  

42 of 83



 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
During the twelve-year tax exemption there will be no property tax revenue or property tax levy 
increase as a result of the value of the multifamily improvements.  The city will delay collecting 
property taxes on improvements until the twelve-year tax exemption period ends. The total 
building value is estimated at $40.72 million for the residential units. Based on the city’s current 
property tax levy of $1.53 per $1,000 assessed value the city will waive approximately $62,301 
in property taxes annually.   
 
The new construction value of the buildings will not be added to the city’s tax rolls until the 
exemption period expires in twelve years and increased property taxes will begin at that time.  
There is no shift in the tax burden during the exemption period, only the delay in adding new 
property tax revenue.  
 
The project estimates an approximate value for the commercial space associated with Polaris at 
Covington at $754,864.  Based on the city’s 2014 tax levy, the commercial space will generate a 
property tax of $1,155 annually. This does not account for the other revenues that will be 
collected once the commercial space is leased.  Please note, the commercial space will not be 
built out with the project but will be completed with appropriate tenant improvements when 
tenants are identified.   
 
The request for the multifamily tax exemption will generate one-time land use and building 
permit fees and construction sale tax dollars that the city will collect as permits are issued and 
construction commences on-site.  There will also be future one-time building permit fees 
associated with the tenant improvements for the future commercial space.  
 
Once occupied, the project’s residents will contribute ongoing revenue through sales and utility 
taxes and franchise fees.  However, it is anticipated that the residents will spend less than the 
average Covington household, given the affordability requirement of the project.  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance     X   Resolution             Motion             Other 
 

Councilmember ______________ moves and Councilmember _____________ 
seconds to pass the proposed Resolution approving the city manager to 
execute twelve-year limited multifamily tax exemption agreements with 
Gemstar Properties, LLC for the Polaris and Affinity at Covington 
developments.  
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager; Finance Director; Public Works Director, City Attorney. 

43 of 83



ATTACHMENT 1

44 of 83



45 of 83



ATTACHMENT 2

46 of 83



47 of 83



48 of 83



49 of 83



ATTACHMENT 3

50 of 83



51 of 83



52 of 83



53 of 83



RESOLUTION NO. 14-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
RELATING TO THE MULTI-FAMILY PROPERTY TAX 
EXEMPTION PROGRAM; AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION OF A MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING 
PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT WITH 
GEMSTAR PROPERTIES, LLC FOR BOTH THE POLARIS 
AND AFFINITY AT COVINGTON DEVELOPMENTS IN 
THE TOWN CENTER ZONE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Covington has, pursuant to Chapter 84.14 of the Revised Code 
of Washington (RCW), designated Residential Target Areas for the allowance of a limited 
property tax exemption for new multi-family residential housing; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has, through Ordinance No. 05-12 and codified at Chapter 3.80 of 
the Covington Municipal Code (CMC), enacted a program whereby property owners in 
Residential Target Areas may qualify for  a Final Certificate of Tax Exemption which certifies to 
the King County Assessor that the owner is eligible to receive a limited property tax exemption; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 3.80, the Community Development Director has reviewed 
the applications by Gemstar Properties, LLC (aka Polaris at Covington LLC and Affinity at 
Covington, LLC) for twelve-year limited property tax exemptions for the Polaris and Affinity at 
Covington developments and has approved each application and recommends that the city 
council approves for the city manager to execute the proposed multi-family property tax 
exemption agreements for both Polaris and Affinity at Covington, substantially in the form as set 
forth as Exhibits “A” and “B” hereto; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Covington, 
King County, Washington, as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  The city council does hereby approve for the City Manager to execute twelve-
year multi-family property tax exemption agreements with Gemstar Properties, LLC aka Polaris 
at Covington LLC and Affinity at Covington, LLC) for both the Affinity and Polaris at 
Covington developments, substantially in the form of the proposed agreements as set for in 
Exhibits “A” and “B” attached hereto.  
 
 PASSED in open and regular session on this 22nd day of July, 2014. 
 

_____________________________________ 
ATTESTED:                     MARGARET HARTO, MAYOR 
 
__________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________________ 
Sara Springer, City Attorney 

ATTACHMENT 4

54 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 1 of 5 

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND POLARIS AT COVINGTON, LLC 

FOR 
POLARIS AT COVINGTON 

 
 

THIS MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is 
entered into this _________ day of July, 2014, by and between the City of Covington, a Washington 
municipal corporation (the “City”) and Polaris at Covington, LLC, a Washington limited liability company 
(the “Owner”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the City has an interest in increasing residential opportunities by stimulating 
construction of new multi-family housing and the rehabilitation of existing vacant and underutilized 
buildings for multi-family housing in areas where the City finds there are insufficient residential 
opportunities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has, pursuant to the authority granted to it by RCW 84.14, designated the Town 
Center District as a Residential Target Area for the provision of either eight- or twelve-year limited multi-
family property tax exemptions (“MFTE”) for qualifying new and refurbished multi-family residential 
housing; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has enacted a program through Ordinance No. 05-12, and codified at Chapter 
3.80 of the Covington Municipal Code (CMC), whereby property owners may qualify for a Final Certificate of 
Tax Exemption which certifies to the King County Assessor that the property owner is eligible to receive 
either an eight- or twelve-year limited MFTE; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 3.80.050, the Owner submitted to the City a complete application, 
dated April 24, 2014 (the “Application”), for a twelve-year MFTE for constructing 200 units of new multi-
family residential housing located SE 276th Street and 171st Ave SE in the Town Center Zoning District, 
generally known as the Polaris at Covington Mixed Use development (the “Project”, more specifically 
described below); and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 3.80.060, the City’s Community Development Director has determined 
that the Project, if completed as proposed, satisfies the requirements for a twelve-year Final Certificate of 
Tax Exemption as required under Chapter 3.80 CMC and has approved the Owner’s Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 3.80.060(2), Covington’s City Council passed Resolution No ____-14  
approving this Agreement and the terms of the Project and eligibility for the MFTE under Chapter 3.80 
CMC;  

 
AGREEMENT 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Owner do mutually agree as follows: 

  

ATTACHMENT 4 
EXHIBIT A

55 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 2 of 5 

 
1. Subject Property and Project.  

 
1.1. The Property. The Owner has submitted to the City preliminary site plans and floor plans 

for multi-family residential housing (the Project details described more fully below), located 
at SE 276th Street and 171st Ave SE in the Town Center Zoning District and described as a 
portion of Parcel A, City of Covington Lot Line Adjustment number LU10-0005 (Covington 
Town Center) King County Recording Number 0100811900003. The property lies within NW 
¼, Section 36, Township 22N, and Range 5E WM, King County Washington (the Property”).  
 
1.2. The Project. The proposed Project on the Property, generally known as the Polaris 
at Covington Mixed Use development, is a multi-family development that will consist of 
two six-story mixed-use buildings with a total of 200 units of affordable family apartments, 
ground level commercial space and parking. The buildings will include a mix of housing sizes 
ranging from one to three bedrooms. The project will provide 45 one bedroom units, 100 
two bedroom units and 55 three bedroom units. The one bedroom units are projected to 
rent for $925 per month.  The two bedroom units are project to rent for $1,110 per month.  
The three bedroom units are projected to rent for $1,275 per month.   
  

2. Conditional Certificate of Acceptance. Upon execution of this Agreement by all parties, the City 
shall issue the Owner a conditional certificate of acceptance of tax exemption (“Conditional 
Certificate”), which shall expire three (3) years from the date of City Council approval unless an 
extension is granted by the City pursuant to CMC 3.80.060. 

 
3. Final Certificate of Tax Exemption. 

 
3.1. Project Requirements. To qualify for a final certificate of tax exemption (“Final 

Certificate”), the Owner shall complete construction of the Project on the Property: 
 
3.1.1. in compliance with CMC 3.80.040;  

 
3.1.2. substantially as described in the most recent site plans, floor plans, and elevations 

on file with the City as of the date of City Council approval of this Agreement;  
 

3.1.3. pursuant to any subsequent Development Agreement entered into between the 
City and the Owner related to the Project;  
 

3.1.4. pursuant to all applicable Project permit conditions and requirements; and 
 

3.1.5. in compliance with all other generally applicable local, state, and federal land use, 
environmental, development, and building regulations; and 
 

3.1.6. Within the three-year time period as provided for on the Conditional Certificate, or 
within any extension thereof granted by the City. 

 
3.2. Application for Final Certificate. The Owner may request a Final Certificate upon 

completion of the Project and the City’s issuance of a temporary or permanent certificate 
of occupancy. Such request shall be submitted pursuant to the requirements of CMC 
3.80.080.  

56 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 3 of 5 

 
3.3. Granting of Final Certificate. The City shall review and either grant or deny the Owner a 

Final Certificate for the Project pursuant to CMC 3.80.090.  
 

3.4. Annual Reporting.  Upon the City’s granting of a Final Certificate, the Owner shall be 
responsible to comply with the annual certification and reporting requirements pursuant to 
CMC 3.80.100 in addition to any and all other reporting requirements of the King County 
Assessor’s office to maintain the tax exemption status. 
 

3.5. Cancellation of Tax Exemption. The tax exempt status of the Project may be cancelled, and 
the Final Certificate revoked, pursuant to CMC 3.80.110.  

 
4. General Provisions. 

 
4.1. Statute References. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, a reference 

to the CMC or other statute or law is a reference to that provision as extended, applied, 
amended, or enacted from time to time and includes any subordinate legislation. 
 

4.2. Covenants Running with the Land. The conditions and covenants set forth in this 
Agreement shall run with the land and the benefits and burdens shall bind and inure to the 
benefit of the parties.  The Owner and every purchaser, assignee, or transferee of an 
interest in the Property, or any portion thereof, shall be obligated and bound by the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement, and shall be the beneficiary thereof and a party thereto, 
but only with respect to the Property, or such portion thereof, sold, assigned, or 
transferred to it.  Any such purchaser, assignee, or transferee shall observe and fully 
perform all of the duties and obligations of the Owner contained in this Agreement, as such 
duties and obligations pertain to the portion of the Property sold, assigned, or transferred 
to it.     

 
4.3. Amendment.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by writing signed 

by the parties and pursuant to CMC 3.80.060(6).    
 

4.4. Assignment.  The Owner shall not assign or transfer any interest in this Agreement  
the prior written consent of the City, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
4.5. No Waiver.  Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default immediately upon 

occurrence shall not waive such breach or default. Failure of the City to declare one breach 
or default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare another breach or default. 
 

4.6. Severability.  Each and every provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to be severable. 
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Agreement shall not 
affect the other provisions hereof, and the Agreement shall be construed in all respects as 
if such invalid or unenforceable provision were not a part of this Agreement.  
 

4.7. Notices.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be  
deemed to have been duly given if personally delivered or mailed, by first class or certified 
mail, with postage prepaid to the address included in the signature block below, or to such 
other person or place as one party shall furnish to the other in writing. Notices and 

57 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 4 of 5 

payments shall be deemed given upon personal delivery or, if mailed, upon the earlier of 
actual receipt or three (3) business days after the date of mailing. 
 

4.8. Governing Law / Venue.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Washington. The venue for any cause of action arising out of this Agreement 
shall be King County, Washington. 
 

4.9. Attorney’s Fees.  If any party initiates legal proceedings related to the validity, 
construction, enforcement, interpretation or breach of this Agreement, the substantially 
prevailing party shall be entitled to all costs of such proceedings including reasonable 
attorney’s fees. The term “legal proceedings” as used in this paragraph shall include all 
litigation, arbitration, administrative, bankruptcy, and judicial proceedings, including 
appeals therefrom. 
 

4.10. Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of 
reference and shall be given no effect in the interpretation of this Agreement.   

 
4.11. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded with the King County Auditor at the sole 

expense of the Owner.  
 
4.12. Authority.  Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of the City and the Owner 

represents and warrants that such individuals are duly authorized to execute and deliver 
this Agreement on behalf of the Consultant or the City. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first 

above written. 
 

 
CITY OF COVINGTON  
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100 
Covington, WA  98042 
 
Attest:  
 
By _____________________________ 
     City Clerk 
      
Approved as to form: 
 
By ____________________________ 
     City Attorney 

 
OWNER 
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
Polaris at Covington, LLC 
1620 North Mamer Road, Bldg B 
Spokane Valley, WA  99216 
 
 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
       

 
 
 

58 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 5 of 5 

STATE OF WASHINGTON) 
              ) ss. 
KING COUNTY             ) 
 
On this _________ day of ___________, 2014, before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and 
for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared 
_______________________, to me known to be an authorized representative of 
____________________________, who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 
to me that the said instrument was signed as his/her free and voluntary act and deed, for the 
uses and purposes therein mentioned.   
 
     WITNESS my hand and official seal this ______ day of _____________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Print Name) __________________________ 
      Notary Public, Residing at ________________ 
      My appointment expires: ________________ 

59 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 1 of 5 

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND AFFINITY AT COVINGTON, LLC 

FOR 
AFFINITY AT COVINGTON 

 
 

THIS MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is 
entered into this _____ day of July, 2014, by and between the City of Covington, a Washington municipal 
corporation (the “City”) and Affinity at Covington, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (the 
“Owner”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the City has an interest in increasing residential opportunities by stimulating 
construction of new multi-family housing and the rehabilitation of existing vacant and underutilized 
buildings for multi-family housing in areas where the City finds there are insufficient residential 
opportunities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has, pursuant to the authority granted to it by RCW 84.14, designated the Town 
Center District as a Residential Target Area for the provision of either eight- or twelve-year limited multi-
family property tax exemptions (“MFTE”) for qualifying new and refurbished multi-family residential 
housing; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has enacted a program through Ordinance No. 05-12, and codified at Chapter 
3.80 of the Covington Municipal Code (CMC), whereby property owners may qualify for a Final Certificate of 
Tax Exemption which certifies to the King County Assessor that the property owner is eligible to receive 
either an eight- or twelve-year limited MFTE; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 3.80.050, the Owner submitted to the City a complete application, 
dated April 24, 2014 (the “Application”), for a twelve-year MFTE for constructing 156 units of new age 
restricted (55+) residential housing located at 172nd Avenue SE and Future 274th Street in the Town Center 
Zoning District, generally known as the Affinity at Covington Mixed Use development (the “Project”, more 
specifically described below); and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 3.80.060, the City’s Community Development Director has determined 
that the Project, if completed as proposed, satisfies the requirements for a twelve-year Final Certificate of 
Tax Exemption as required under Chapter 3.80 CMC and has approved the Owner’s Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CMC 3.80.060(2), Covington’s City Council passed Resolution No ____-14  
approving this Agreement and the terms of the Project and eligibility for the MFTE under Chapter 3.80 
CMC;  

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Owner do mutually agree as follows: 
 
1. Subject Property and Project.  

 

ATTACHMENT 4 
EXHIBIT B

60 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 2 of 5 

1.1. The Property. The Owner has submitted to the City preliminary site plans and floor plans 
for multi-family residential housing (the Project details described more fully below), located 
at 172nd Avenue SE and Future 274th Street in the Town Center Zoning District, and 
described as a portion of Parcel A, City of Covington Lot Line Adjustment number LU10-
0005 (Covington Town Center) King County Recording Number 0100811900003. The 
property lies within NW ¼, Section 36, Township 22N, and Range 5E WM, King County 
Washington (the “Property”).  
 
1.2. The Project. The proposed Project on the Property, generally known as the Affinity 
at Covington Mixed Use development, is a multi-family development that will consist of a 
six-story building with 156 dwelling units, parking and amenity space.  The facility will be 
age-restricted to seniors age 55 or older and will contain a mix a mix of housing types.  
Twenty Percent (20%) of the units in the project will be affordable.  Affordable units will 
include 2 studio units projected to rent for $1,118, 11 one bedroom units projected to rent 
for $1,278 and 19 two bedroom units projected to rent for $1,438.   
  

2. Conditional Certificate of Acceptance. Upon execution of this Agreement by all parties, the City 
shall issue the Owner a conditional certificate of acceptance of tax exemption (“Conditional 
Certificate”), which shall expire three (3) years from the date of City Council approval unless an 
extension is granted by the City pursuant to CMC 3.80.060. 

 
3. Final Certificate of Tax Exemption. 

 
3.1. Project Requirements. To qualify for a final certificate of tax exemption (“Final 

Certificate”), the Owner shall complete construction of the Project on the Property: 
 
3.1.1. in compliance with CMC 3.80.040;  

 
3.1.2. substantially as described in the most recent site plans, floor plans, and elevations 

on file with the City as of the date of City Council approval of this Agreement;  
 

3.1.3. pursuant to any subsequent Development Agreement entered into between the 
City and the Owner related to the Project;  
 

3.1.4. pursuant to all applicable Project permit conditions and requirements; and 
 

3.1.5. in compliance with all other generally applicable local, state, and federal land use, 
environmental, development, and building regulations; and 
 

3.1.6. Within the three-year time period as provided for on the Conditional Certificate, or 
within any extension thereof granted by the City. 

 
3.2. Application for Final Certificate. The Owner may request a Final Certificate upon 

completion of the Project and the City’s issuance of a temporary or permanent certificate 
of occupancy. Such request shall be submitted pursuant to the requirements of CMC 
3.80.080.  
 

61 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 3 of 5 

3.3. Granting of Final Certificate. The City shall review and either grant or deny the Owner a 
Final Certificate for the Project pursuant to CMC 3.80.090.  
 

3.4. Annual Reporting.  Upon the City’s granting of a Final Certificate, the Owner shall be 
responsible to comply with the annual certification and reporting requirements pursuant to 
CMC 3.80.100 in addition to any and all other reporting requirements of the King County 
Assessor’s office to maintain the tax exemption status.  
 

3.5. Cancellation of Tax Exemption. The tax exempt status of the Project may be cancelled, and 
the Final Certificate revoked, pursuant to CMC 3.80.110.  

 
4. General Provisions. 

 
4.1. Statute References. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, a reference 

to the CMC or other statute or law is a reference to that provision as extended, applied, 
amended, or enacted from time to time and includes any subordinate legislation. 
 

4.2. Covenants Running with the Land. The conditions and covenants set forth in this 
Agreement shall run with the land and the benefits and burdens shall bind and inure to the 
benefit of the parties.  The Owner and every purchaser, assignee, or transferee of an 
interest in the Property, or any portion thereof, shall be obligated and bound by the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement, and shall be the beneficiary thereof and a party thereto, 
but only with respect to the Property, or such portion thereof, sold, assigned, or 
transferred to it.  Any such purchaser, assignee, or transferee shall observe and fully 
perform all of the duties and obligations of the Owner contained in this Agreement, as such 
duties and obligations pertain to the portion of the Property sold, assigned, or transferred 
to it.     

 
4.3. Amendment.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by writing signed 

by the parties and pursuant to CMC 3.80.060(6).    
 

4.4. Assignment.  The Owner shall not assign or transfer any interest in this Agreement  
the prior written consent of the City, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
4.5. No Waiver.  Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default immediately upon 

occurrence shall not waive such breach or default. Failure of the City to declare one breach 
or default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare another breach or default. 
 

4.6. Severability.  Each and every provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to be severable. 
The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Agreement shall not 
affect the other provisions hereof, and the Agreement shall be construed in all respects as 
if such invalid or unenforceable provision were not a part of this Agreement.  
 

4.7. Notices.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be  
deemed to have been duly given if personally delivered or mailed, by first class or certified 
mail, with postage prepaid to the address included in the signature block below, or to such 
other person or place as one party shall furnish to the other in writing. Notices and 
payments shall be deemed given upon personal delivery or, if mailed, upon the earlier of 
actual receipt or three (3) business days after the date of mailing. 

62 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 4 of 5 

 
4.8. Governing Law / Venue.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Washington. The venue for any cause of action arising out of this Agreement 
shall be King County, Washington. 
 

4.9. Attorney’s Fees.  If any party initiates legal proceedings related to the validity, 
construction, enforcement, interpretation or breach of this Agreement, the substantially 
prevailing party shall be entitled to all costs of such proceedings including reasonable 
attorney’s fees. The term “legal proceedings” as used in this paragraph shall include all 
litigation, arbitration, administrative, bankruptcy, and judicial proceedings, including 
appeals therefrom. 
 

4.10. Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience of 
reference and shall be given no effect in the interpretation of this Agreement.   

 
4.11. Recording. This Agreement shall be recorded with the King County Auditor at the sole 

expense of the Owner.  
 
4.12. Authority.  Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of the City and the Owner 

represents and warrants that such individuals are duly authorized to execute and deliver 
this Agreement on behalf of the Consultant or the City. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first 

above written. 
 

 
CITY OF COVINGTON  
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100 
Covington, WA  98042 
 
Attest:  
 
By _____________________________ 
     City Clerk 
      
 
Approved as to form: 
 
By ____________________________ 
     City Attorney 

 
OWNER 
 
By ____________________________ 
Name: _________________________ 
Its: ____________________________ 
Affinity at Covington, LLC 
1620 North Mamer Road, Bldg B 
Spokane Valley, WA  99216 
 
 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
       

 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON) 

63 of 83



MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING LIMITED PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION AGREEMENT - Page 5 of 5 

              ) ss. 
KING COUNTY             ) 
 
On this _________ day of ___________, 2014, before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and 
for the State of Washington, duly commissioned and sworn, personally appeared 
_______________________, to me known to be an authorized representative of 
____________________________, who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 
to me that the said instrument was signed as his/her free and voluntary act and deed, for the 
uses and purposes therein mentioned.   
 
     WITNESS my hand and official seal this ______ day of _____________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      (Print Name) __________________________ 
      Notary Public, Residing at ________________ 
      My appointment expires: ________________ 

64 of 83



Agenda Item 4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: July 22, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:   APPOINTMENT TO OPENINGS ON THE COVINGTON ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL (CEDC).  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:   Derek Matheson, City Manager 

Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
         
ATTACHMENT(S): See Interview Schedule and Applications provided separately. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:     
Five CEDC terms will expire on July 31, 2014.  Three of these terms are to be appointed by the 
City of Covington.  Each term is for a period of two years.  The city received three applications 
for appointment to CEDC as follows: 
 
Name of Applicant          
Laura Roth (currently serving on CEDC; terms ends 07/31/2014) 
Jeff Wagner (currently serving on CEDC; terms ends 07/31/2014) 
Eileen Ely 
   
ALTERNATIVES: 
Not appoint at this time and direct staff to continue to advertise for additional applicants. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____ Ordinance            Resolution      X     Motions              Other  

 
Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _______________ to fill a position on the Covington 
Economic Development Council with a term expiring July 31, 2016.  
 
Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _______________ to fill a position on the Covington 
Economic Development Council with a term expiring July 31, 2016.  
 
Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _______________ to fill a position on the Covington 
Economic Development Council with a term expiring July 31, 2016.  
 
 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager  
 Community Development Director 
   

65 of 83



Agenda Item 5  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: July 22, 2014  
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER MASTER BUILDERS ASSOCIATION REQUEST  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Master Builders Association letter to Mayor Margaret Harto  
2. City of Covington & Covington Water District Joint Staff Work Group Report 
 

PREPARED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The Master Builders Association (MBA) of King and Snohomish Counties attended the 
Covington Water District’s Board of Commissioners meeting on June 4, 2014, to express 
concern with the district’s “connection fees, time of payment, multiple water meters, and permit 
exempt wells.”  The MBA followed up with a letter to Mayor Margaret Harto dated June 16 that 
requested the city’s support of “our requested policy revisions, which would remove unnecessary 
barriers of CWD cities seeking to incentivize growth.”   
 
The City Council agreed on June 24 to schedule this matter for discussion on July 22.  Attached 
are the MBA’s letter to the mayor and a report from a city/district joint staff work group dated 
March 20, 2012 that outlines areas of agreement and disagreement between the city and district 
in regards to the district’s rates and fees and standards and specifications. 
 
Staff recommends that the mayor send a letter to the district that 1) reiterates the city’s strong 
interest in a healthy climate for economic development and 2) offers broad support for any and 
all efforts to reduce the cost of development and simplify the standards and processes for 
development.  
 
ALTERNATIVES:  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution         Motion      X  Other 
 

PROVIDE DIRECTION TO STAFF 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Community Development Director; Public Works Director; Finance Director; 
City Attorney. 

66 of 83



ATTACHMENT 1

67 of 83



68 of 83



69 of 83



70 of 83



3/20/2012

1

City of Covington &City of Covington &
Covington Water DistrictCovington Water District
Joint Staff Work GroupJoint Staff Work Group

Report to City Council & 

Board of Commissioners

March 20, 2012

13/20/2012 FINAL

2011 Joint Meeting2011 Joint Meeting

� Covington City Council, Covington Water 
District Board, and Soos Creek Water & 
Sewer District Board met jointly on 
March 15, 2011
◦ City staff presented the city’s downtown plan, 

including town center vision

◦ CWD staff provided an overview of district 
operations and system extension 
requirements

◦ SCWSD staff summarized plans to enhance 
sewer service in Downtown Covington

23/20/2012 FINAL

ATTACHMENT 2

71 of 83



3/20/2012

2

Work Group ConceptWork Group Concept

� The Covington City Council desired 
further analysis on the two CWD issues 
that generated the most discussion:
◦ Large water main requirements downtown

◦ Looping requirements

� Council directed staff to explore with 
CWD staff the creation of a City & CWD 
staff-level work group to work on these 
issues and report back to Council
◦ Include SCWSD

33/20/2012 FINAL

Work Group ConceptWork Group Concept

� City & CWD staff met to identify a work 
group and scope of work

◦ Added Covington fire marshal

43/20/2012 FINAL

72 of 83



3/20/2012

3

CompositionComposition

� City of Covington
◦ Derek Matheson, City Manager

◦ Glenn Akramoff, Public Works Director

◦ Nelson Ogren, Development Review Engineer

� Covington Water District (CWD)
◦ Gwenn Maxfield, General Manager

◦ Kevin Fuhrer, Business Services Director

◦ Brian Borgstadt, District Engineer

� Kent Fire Dept. Regional Fire Authority (KFD)
◦ Jon Napier, Covington Fire Marshal

� Soos Creek Water & Sewer District (SCWSD)
◦ Ron Speer, General Manager

53/20/2012 FINAL

Work PlanWork Plan

April Set work group composition and work plan

May Review & discuss CWD rates & fees

June Review & discuss CWD standards & specifications

September Review & discuss SCWSD

Review & discuss fire code 

November Review highlights
Discuss report to Council & Board

63/20/2012 FINAL

73 of 83



3/20/2012

4

CWD Rates & FeesCWD Rates & Fees

� CWD staff gave a presentation on rates & 
fees in May

� Group’s findings:

◦ The water moratorium in the 1990s 
continues to have profound effects today

◦ The City & CWD share a common concern 
about the impact of rates & fees on economic 
development

73/20/2012 FINAL

CWD Rates & FeesCWD Rates & Fees

� Group’s findings (continued):

◦ CWD’s ability to influence rates & fees is 
heavily circumscribed by:

� Investments in additional water supply

� Green River Supply (RWSS)

� Cascade Water Alliance

� Great Recession (fewer new connections despite 
sunk costs)

� Conservation (lower water sales despite sunk 
costs)

� Federal mandates (filtration of Green River supply)

83/20/2012 FINAL

74 of 83



3/20/2012

5

CWD Rates & FeesCWD Rates & Fees

� Group’s findings (continued):
◦ CWD is making efforts to reduce impacts on 

developers and customers
� Evaluating options to sell excess supply to other 

water utilities

� Reduced system extension agreement annual 
renewal fee effective October 2010 (made 
permanent November 2011)
� Represents a 90% reduction in annual fee from $1,000 per 

ERU to $100

� Total fee remains unchanged; balance due when CWD 
accepts ownership

93/20/2012 FINAL

CWD Rates & FeesCWD Rates & Fees

� Group’s findings (continued):
◦ CWD is making efforts to reduce impacts on 

developers and customers (continued):
� Adopted new connection-charges structure effective 

January 2011
� Combined commercial, schools, government, and irrigation 

classes into one non-residential user class 
� Base non-residential connection charge includes two meters 

– one each for indoor and outdoor water use – similar to 
the residential class

� Significantly reduced comparable non-residential connection 
charges ($25,249 in 2011 vs. $46,740 in 2010 for a 5/8” 
connection)

� Group discussed but didn’t resolve whether to delay a portion 
of connection-charge collection from final-plat stage to 
building-permit stage

103/20/2012 FINAL

75 of 83



3/20/2012

6

CWD Standards & SpecificationsCWD Standards & Specifications

� CWD staff gave a presentation on 
standards & specifications in June

� City had two primary concerns:

◦ Large water main requirements downtown

◦ Looping requirements

� Downtown 

� Commercial projects and residential plats 

113/20/2012 FINAL

CWD Standards & SpecificationsCWD Standards & Specifications

� Group’s findings

◦ Large water mains downtown are the result 
of a city staff request a number of years ago

� CWD staff will recognize the city’s changed fire-
flow requirement in the next draft water 
comprehensive plan

123/20/2012 FINAL

76 of 83



3/20/2012

7

CWD Standards & SpecificationsCWD Standards & Specifications

� Group’s findings (continued):
◦ City and KFD staff continue to have a 

professional difference of opinion with CWD 
staff regarding looping of commercial projects 
and residential subdivisions
� City and KFD staff believe looping generally is not 

necessary for fire flow purposes
� CWD staff believe looping is a system-integrity and 

water-quality issue as much as a fire-flow issue
� City staff requested that CWD staff include a deviation/ 

variance option in the next standards update
� Allow developers to use value engineering to propose a 

different configuration that produces similar results at a lower 
cost

133/20/2012 FINAL

Soos Creek Water & Sewer DistrictSoos Creek Water & Sewer District

� SCWSD staff gave a brief presentation on 
rates & fees and standards & specifications in 
September

� Group’s findings:

◦ SCWSD is very fortunate to have an excellent 
60-year contract with Seattle for filtered water

◦ SCWSD’s rates are on the rise due to 
conservation (lower water sales but fixed costs)

◦ SCWSD loops only upon the fire marshal’s 
request

143/20/2012 FINAL

77 of 83



3/20/2012

8

Kent Fire DepartmentKent Fire Department

� The fire marshal gave a presentation on 
rates & fees in September

� The fire code is adopted by the City Council 
but administered by KFD per an interlocal 
agreement

� Group’s findings:

◦ Fire flow needs are determined through complex 
calculations using formulas in the fire code

◦ KFD normally does not request looping for fire 
flow purposes

153/20/2012 FINAL

Next StepsNext Steps

� CWD staff will update standards for 
water mains downtown in the next draft 
water comprehensive plan

� CWD staff have the option to address the 
deviation/variance concept in the next 
standards update 

� City & CWD staff will continue to work 
together toward mutual goals:
◦ Economic development
◦ Affordable rates & fees
◦ High quality public services

163/20/2012 FINAL

78 of 83



3/20/2012

9

Thank youThank you

173/20/2012 FINAL

79 of 83



Agenda Item 6  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: July 22, 2014  
 
SUBJECT:  APPOINT INTERIM CITY MANAGER  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S):  

 
PREPARED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
 
EXPLANATION: 
City Manager Derek Matheson announced his resignation effective August 8, 2014, to become 
the City of Kent’s chief administrative officer.  His last day in the office is July 25, and he will 
be on vacation from July 26 through August 8.  Staff recommends the council appoint an interim 
city manager effective July 26 and set his/her compensation at step two of the city manager 
salary range.  If the council appoints from within the organization, the interim city manager 
would return to his/her prior position and salary when a city manager takes office. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
$12,314 per month, mostly offset by salary savings if the council appoints from within the 
organization. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution     X   Motion          Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to appoint ____________________ as interim city manager effective 
July 26, 2014, and set his/her compensation at step two of the city manager 
salary range.  
 

REVIEWED BY:  Personnel Manager, Finance Director, City Attorney 

80 of 83



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date:  July 22, 2014 
 
 
 

DISCUSSION OF  
FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 

 
 

7:00 p.m. Tuesday, August 12, 2014 Regular Meeting 
 
 

 (Draft Agenda Attached) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81 of 83



Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
www.covingtonwa.gov 

 
 
Tuesday, August 12, 2014                                                                       City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                               16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
   
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

• Clean Covington Day Proclamation – September 9, 2014 (Slate) 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  
Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  June 3, 2014 Tri Cities Special Joint Meeting; June 10, 2014 Special Study 

Session; June 10, 2014 Regular Meeting; June 24 Special Study Session; June 24, 2014 
Regular Meeting; July 8, 2014 Regular Meeting; and July 22, 2014 Regular Meeting 
(Scott) 

C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
C-3. Approve Street Sweeping Contract (Vondran) 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
1. Receive Comments and Consider Ordinance Extending the Moratorium on Medical 

Marijuana (Springer) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Coal Trail Briefing (Lindskov) 
3. Consider Resolution Adopting Covington Mixed Use Multifamily Tax Exemption (Lyons) 
4. Approve Development Agreement with Covington Mixed Use (Lyons) 
5. Review Proposals for City Manager Recruitment (Beaufrere) 
6. Report on Covington Days (Slate) 
7. Second Quarter Financial Report (Hendrickson) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

 

Draft 
as of 07/15/14 

 

82 of 83

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
  
ADJOURN 
 
For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD 
relay service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 

83 of 83


	07-22-2014 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, July 22, 2014                                                                            City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 07-22-2014 Voucher Green Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent C-1 Attachments
	Item 1 Blue Sheet for Development Agreement_Covington Mixed Use_Public Hearing_071614
	Agenda Item 1

	Item 1 Attachment 1_ Site Plan Elevations
	CSD Site Plan.pdf
	Pages from Cov MF Updated Elevations_June 2014

	Item 1 Attachment 2 Polaris _Affinity_ Development Agreement_072214
	DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN
	THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND GEMSTAR PROPERTIES, LLC FOR THE
	AFFINITY AT COVINGTON & POLARIS AT COVINGTON DEVELOPMENT

	Item 2 Bue Sheet 07-22-14 Republic Services Contract Amendment #1 Blue Sheet
	Item 2 Attachment 1 07-22-14 Republic Services Contract Amendment #1_SBS Edit
	CITY OF COVINGTON
	By: Derek Matheson
	KENT-MERIDIAN DISPOSAL COMPANY
	By: ______________________________

	Item 2 Attachment 1 Exhibit 1 07-22-14 Republic Services Rates - Revised with Additional Rates
	Rate Schedule
	Ancillary Fees

	Item 3 Attachment 1_Rent Tax Limit Chart
	Item 3 Attachment 2_Polaris Application
	Item 3 Attachment 3_Affinity Application
	Item 3 Attachment 4_Exhibit A_MFTE Contract_Polaris at Covington
	Item 3 Attachment 4_Exhibit B_MFTE Contract_Affinity at Covington
	Item 4 Blue Sheet 07-22-2014 CEDC Appointment
	Agenda Item 4

	Item 5 Blue Sheet 07-22-14 Master Builders Association request
	Agenda Item 5

	Item 5 Attachment 1
	Item 5 Attachment 2
	Item 6 Blue Sheet 07-22-14 Appoint interim city manager (REV. 1)
	Agenda Item 6

	Future Agenda Cover Sheet
	08-12-2014 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, August 12, 2014                                                                       City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	Item 3 Blue Sheet for MFTE_Covington Mixed Use_FINAL.pdf
	Agenda Item 3




